MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING

MINISTRY OF HEALTH

VINUNIVERSITY



CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF AUTOIMMUNE LIVER DISEASES IN VIETNAMESE PATIENTS

By

Tran Vo Thuy Nhi, MD

THESIS

PRESENTED TO COLLEGE OF HEALTH SCIENCES OF VINUNIVERSITY IN CANDIDACY OF GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION IN INTERNAL MEDICINE

Advisors:

Nguyen Van Dinh, MD., PhD Truong Cong Duan, MD., PhD

Hanoi, 2024

THESIS COMMITTEE APPROVAL PAGE

The thesis entitled "Clinical characteristics of autoimmune liver diseases in Vietnamese patients" by Tran Vo Thuy Nhi, supervised by Nguyen Van Dinh, MD., PhD, and Truong Cong Duan, MD., PhD, was successfully defended/approved on February 29th, 2024. All revisions suggested by the thesis Committee have been addressed, and the thesis has been endorsed by the Committee.

Resident's Name:	Tran Vo Thuy Nhi	
Degree:	Bác sĩ nội trú	
Title:	Resident Doctor	
Committee	Chair: Prof. David Bangsberg, MD., MPH	

Prof. David Bangsberg, MD., MPH Chair:

Nguyen Van Dinh, MD., PhD Direct Advisor:

Truong Cong Duan, MD., PhD Advisor 2:

Assoc. Prof Le Cu Linh, MD., Php Secretary

Date Defended/Approved: February 29th, 2024

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am deeply grateful to my mentors, Nguyen Van Dinh, MD., PhD, and Vu Thi Mai, MD., for their exceptional guidance and unwavering support throughout this research endeavor. Their expertise, insightful feedback, and continuous encouragement have been invaluable in shaping the direction and outcomes of this study. Their unwavering commitment to my academic growth and professional development has been truly inspiring.

Their mentorship has enriched the quality of this research and profoundly impacted my personal and intellectual growth. I am truly fortunate to have had the privilege of working under their guidance.

I would like to express my appreciation to the EUROIMMUN PerkinElmer company for their generous grant, which has played a crucial role in supporting this research project. Their belief in the significance of this study and their commitment to advancing knowledge in this field has been instrumental in its realization.

I am grateful to Ha Quang Huy, MD., and Pham Ngoc Tuan, MD., PhD for their unwavering support and invaluable insights. Their expertise, wisdom, and dedication to teaching and mentoring have been instrumental in shaping my research skills and scholarly pursuits.

Student's name

Mark

Tran Vo Thuy Nhi, MD.

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis entitled "Clinical characteristics of autoimmune liver diseases in Vietnamese patients" is my own work, all information in the thesis is accurate and truthful, with full citations of the references, and does not violate the laws regarding intellectual property.

Student's name

Rul

Tran Vo Thuy Nhi, MD.

Table Of Contents

Table Of Contents	5
List Of Figures	7
List Of Tables	8
List Of Abbreviations	9
Abstract	
Introduction	12
Chapter 1 Background & Rationale	
1.1. Global Liver Burden And Autoimmune Liver Diseases	13
1.2. Autoimmune Hepatitis	13
1.3. Primary Biliary Cholangitis	20
1.4. Primary sclerosing cholangitis	22
Chapter 2 Research Design And Methodology	25
2.1. Research Aim	25
2.2. Type Of Research	25
2.3. Research Population	25
2.4. Research Duration	25
2.5. Sampling Design And Method	25
2.5.1. Sampling Frame	25
2.5.2. Inclusion And Exclusion Criteria	25
2.5.3. Sample Size: 458 patients	
2.5.4. Sampling Method: Convenience sampling	
2.6. Data collection method	
2.6.1. Operationalization	
2.6.2. Research Variables	27
2.6.3. Research Sources, Tools, And Modalities	27
2.7. Data Analysis Method	
2.8. Research Framework	
2.9. Ethical Approval	
Chapter 3 Thesis Results	

3.1. Demographics Of Suspected Autoimmune Liver Diseases Patients	
3.2. Demographics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
3.3. Clinical Manifestations Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
3.4. Biochemistry Serology Characteristics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
3.5. Autoantibodies Spectrum Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
3.6. The Calculated Hospital-Based Prevalence Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
Chapter 4 Discussion	
4.1. Demographics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
4.1.1. About Gender, Age, BMI Distributions	
4.1.2. About The Definite AIH Diagnosis Based On Scoring Systems And The Subt Distributions	y pe Of AIH
4.1.3. About The Comorbidities And Concurrent Autoimmune Diseases	
4.2. Clinical Manifestations Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	40
4.3. Biochemistry Serology Characteristics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	40
4.4. Autoantibodies Spectrum Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	40
4.5. The Calculated Hospital-Based Prevalence Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases	41
4.6. Research Limitations	
Conclusions	
Recommendations	
Appendices	
Reference List	
THESIS SUBMISSION FORM	

Figure	Name of the figure
Figure 3.1.1	Distribution of comorbidities of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort
Figure 3.1.2	Distribution of liver enzymes of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort.
Figure 3.3.1	Characteristics of the clinical manifestations in AIH and PBC in the study cohort.
Figure 3.3.2	Characteristics of the clinical symptoms in AIH and PBC in the study cohort
Figure 3.5.1	Autoantibodies spectrum of AIH and PBC at the time of diagnosis
Figure 3.5.2	Proportion of single antibody compared with multiple antibodies in AIH and PBC at the time of diagnosis

List Of Figures

List Of Tables

Table	Name of the table	
Table 3.1.1	Characteristics of the epidemiology of suspected autoimmune liver diseases patients in Vietnam.	
Table 3.1.2	Characteristics of co-morbidities in suspected ALD patients.	
Table 3.2.1	Number of cases diagnosed with ALD from in study cohort per year.	
Table 3.2.2	Characteristics of the epidemiology in AIH and PBC	
Table 3.2.3	Distribution of AIH subtypes in the study cohort.	
Table 3.4.1	Characteristics of the biochemistry laboratory results in AIH and PBC in the study cohort.	
Table 3.6.1	The sensitivity and specificity of the EUROLINE 14 Ag test in AIH and PBC	

List Of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition	
AIH	Autoimmune Hepatitis	
ALD	Autoimmune Liver Diseases	
AMA	Antimitochondrial Antibodies	
AMA – M2	Anti-mitochondrial M2 antibody	
AMA - M2 – 3E (BPO)	Anti-mitochondrial M2 antibodies with a mixture of bovine	
	PDH and the recombinant fusion protein BPO, which	
	encompasses the immunogenic domains of the E2 subunits	
	of BCOADH, PDH, and OGDH (expression system: E.	
	coli)	
ANA	Antinuclear Antibody	
ANCA	Anti-Neutrophil Cytoplasmic Antibody	
ASMA or SMA	Anti-Smooth Muscle Antibodies	
CENP A	Centromere protein A Antibodies	
CENP B	Centromere protein B Antibodies	
gp21	gp210 antibodies	
НСС	Hepatocellular Carcinoma	
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen	
IAIHG	International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group	
IgG	Immunoglobulin G	
LC-1	Liver Cytosol Type 1	
LKM	Liver-Kidney Microsomal Antibody	
pANCA	perinuclear Anti-Neutrophil Cytoplasmic	
	Antibodies	
PBC	Primary Biliary Cholangitis	
PGDH	15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase	
	Antibodies	
PML	Promyelocytic Leukemia	
PSC	Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis	

Ro-52	Ro-52 Antibodies
Scl-70	Topoisomerase 1 Antibodies
SLA/LP	Soluble Liver Antigen/Liver-Pancreas
sp100	sp100 antibodies
SS-A	Sjogren's Antibodies

Abstract

Background: Autoimmune liver diseases (ALD) consist of autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC), and overlapping syndrome. These are rare disorders that are assumed to belong to only Western countries; data from Eastern, particularly developing Asian countries, is currently lacking.

Aim: The purpose of this study is to describe the serologic spectrum, autoimmunologic profile, and clinical features of Vietnamese patients with ALD in Hanoi. The results are compared to data from previous research conducted in Western areas and other Asia-Pacific countries.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted in two hospitals in Vietnam from 2021 to 2024. The following parameters were recorded when analyzing the medical records of all 32 patients: the patient's demographic data, clinical history at presentation, and findings of laboratory and serologic testing—not only the biochemistry but also the immunologic profile at the time of diagnosis.

Results: The total number of ALD patients in the study was 32, including 31.25% with AIH (n=10), 68.75% with PBC (n=22), and no patients with PSC and overlapping syndrome. Most were female and within middle age (51 years in the AIH group and 49 years in the PBC group). Fatigue, loss of appetite, and jaundice were the most reported symptoms in both groups. Depending on the pattern of ALD, the more serology antibodies were positive, the more accurately ALD was diagnosed in comparison to positive single antibody cases.

Conclusion: Our study found that most ALD cases in Vietnam were middle-aged females with PBC or AIH with nonspecific symptoms. Further long-term studies investigating the epidemiology and prognosis of ALD in Vietnam is needed.

Introduction

The liver disease could be acute or chronic; in contrast to the acute episode, the chronic stage of the liver could be variant, ranging from asymptomatic to mild or subtle, with constitutional manifestations that could lead to delayed diagnosis, such as decompensated cirrhosis and advanced malignancy. Two million deaths a year are caused by liver disease, which also accounts for 4% of all deaths (1 out of every 25 deaths globally) [1]. Based on the latest research on the global burden of liver disease updated in 2023 and published in the Journal of Hepatology, viral hepatitis (including viral hepatitis B and C), alcohol, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease are the most frequent causes of chronic liver diseases globally [1, 2]. Autoimmune liver diseases (ALD), which include autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cholangitis, and primary sclerosing cholangitis, are identified as the other, less common causes of liver burden. While the majority of studies conducted over the past few decades demonstrate that ALD is rare and is diagnosed in Western countries, a larger number of case series or multicenter retrospective observational studies from Eastern sites have been published in recent times, especially from developed countries such as Japan, South Korea, and China [3]. Unfortunately, depending on a variety of factors, such as the economy and healthcare mobility for facilities in a developing country such as Vietnam, the ALD is challenging to detect until the high-yield laboratory test or high-quality imaging technique allows for an accurate diagnosis after ruling out other common etiologies mentioned above. The diagnosis of ALD has gained attention as multidisciplinary healthcare systems have been supported or improved in recent years, and certain research studies on this specific type of liver disease have been published in Eastern populations. The January 2022 Liver International Journal published a paper comparing the differences in epidemiology, genetic predispositions, clinical features, diagnosis, and treatments between Eastern and Western countries [4]. The paper also noted the lack of data from the Vietnamese population in the context of publication resulting from misdiagnosis or underdiagnosis of chronically increased abnormal liver enzymes. In addition to providing a general overview of this rare disease from a Vietnamese perspective, this paper attempts to characterize the features of ALD patients in Vietnam. An adult patient with ALD who had chronic abnormal liver enzymes was recruited for this investigation from a tertiary hospital in Vietnam. Assess medical records to collect information on immunologic profiles, laboratory and imaging results, clinical manifestations, and epidemiology. Following the internationally published diagnosis criteria, generate the final diagnosis and then compare the research results to populations from Asia and the West to identify noteworthy, distinct characteristics.

Chapter 1 Background & Rationale

1.1. Global Liver Burden And Autoimmune Liver Diseases

Liver disease is the cause of two million deaths per year and 4% of all deaths worldwide (1 out of every 25 deaths) [1]. The majority of deaths are caused by complications from hepatocellular carcinoma and cirrhosis, with acute hepatitis contributing less to the deaths. According to the publication from 2023, viral hepatitis (including viral hepatitis B and C), alcohol, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease are the most frequent causes of chronic liver diseases [1]. Apart from the most common causes mentioned above, autoimmune liver diseases (ALD) are rare, treatable, and frequently misdiagnosed in clinical settings since they have inconsistent as well as asymptomatic manifestations. ALD includes autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC). AIH is a liver-inflammatory disease resulting from a defective immune system response directed against liver tissue. PBC and PSC, on the other hand, are biliary tract diseases resulting in cholestatic pattern abnormalities. The vast majority of the time, these conditions are associated with elevated tests for liver function with or without symptoms, and they further silently progress to end-stage liver disease, such as advanced malignancy or decompensated cirrhosis. Recognizing ALD is challenging, especially the seronegative type, which is known as the negative typical specific autoantibody. In a clinical setting, understanding the clinical spectrum and serological patterns of these diseases in different populations could be advantageous in enhancing patient management and preventing further complications from ALD.

1.2. Autoimmune Hepatitis

The term "autoimmune hepatitis" refers to a progressive, chronic liver inflammation that has no known cause and is marked by hypergammaglobulinemia, interface hepatitis, high levels of aminotransferases, and autoantibodies. When Waldenstrom first described AIH in 1950, it was known as chronic active hepatitis (CAH), and at the time it was considered a "new" disease. AIH was known as "lupoid" hepatitis, derived from associated lupus erythematosus (L.E.) cell test positivity, and emphasized accompanying multisystem features and immunological aberrations [5]. Systemic lupus erythematosus, which was thought to be its cause, was present in patients at the time of diagnosis. The development of serology tests such as an antinuclear antibody (ANA), anti-smooth muscle antibodies (SMA), serum immunoglobulin G (IgG) levels, and optimal safety liver biopsy performance significantly increased the diagnosis of AIH. The interaction of genetic predisposition, an environmental trigger, and native immune system dysfunction has been proposed as the mechanism for the development of autoimmune hepatitis, leading to chronic inflammation of hepatocytes and, eventually, liver fibrosis. Recent epidemiological research has shown that the prevalence of AIH is rising globally; the prevalence and incidence of AIH were 3.1 and 2.8 times higher, respectively, than the rates recorded before the year 2000s [6]. AIH has a broad spectrum of clinical phenotypes, which makes it challenging to diagnose and manage. Typically, the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group (IAIHG) diagnostic scoring system is utilized in combination with clinical, biochemical, serologic, and histological findings to establish the diagnosis. Diagnostic scores comprise mostly non-disease-specific findings. Although these criteria are available, often the diagnosis of AIH is made clinically. Compared to age- and sex-matched controls, AIH is linked to a 1.5-fold increased 10-year risk of any cancer, including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), colorectal cancer, lymphoma, and non-melanoma skin cancer. Patients with cirrhosis had a higher risk of developing any type of cancer among AIH patients, particularly when receiving immunosuppressive treatment for an extended period [1]. Given the increasing disease burden, several systematic reviews and meta-analyses were conducted to describe the characteristics of disease not only in the United States and Europe but also in developed Asian countries such as Japan, South Korea, and China.

In the latest publication in 2023 by Korean scientists, the incidence and prevalence of AIH have greatly increased and diverged significantly between global regions. The highest incidence and prevalence were recorded between 2015 and 2022. The global pooled incidence and prevalence of AIH were found to be 1.28 cases per 100,000 inhabitant-years and 15.65 cases per 100,000 inhabitants, respectively [6]. The incidence of AIH was highest in North America at 3.35 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year and the lowest in Asia at 0.99 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year. The highest prevalence was found in the United States (29.55 cases per 100,000 inhabitants), while the lowest prevalence was observed in Singapore (4.23 cases per 100,000 inhabitants). Subgroup analysis demonstrated a higher prevalence in European and American populations than in Asian populations; furthermore, a higher prevalence was observed in women and adults over 65.

Based on the immunologic profile, AIH is classified into two groups: seropositive, where antiantibodies are found during the evaluation process, and seronegative, where non-autoantibodies are observed in response to a corticosteroid treatment trial. The two standard types, referred to as type 1 and type 2, are grouped in the seropositive group. Type 1 AIH characteristic autoantibodies include antinuclear antibodies (ANAs), anti-smooth muscle antibodies (ASMAs), and anti-soluble liver antigen antibodies (anti-SLA), most common in adults. Type 2 AIH-characteristic autoantibodies include anti-liver cytosol antibodies-1 (ALC-1), most common in children. While there may be a small number of young patients with type 2 AIH in South Asian

nations, the majority of patients in East and Southeast Asia are middle-aged women with type 1 AIH who benefit from steroid-based immunosuppressive therapy [7].

Although the precise etiology of AIH is unknown, environmental factors and an immunogenetic background may play a role in the disease's development. The current theory of pathogenesis is believed to be secondary to immune tolerance failure in a genetically susceptible individual, which results in T-cell-mediated inflammation triggered by different environmental stimuli. The common triggers are drug exposure and viral hepatitis, with the host's genetic predisposition in the background of the disease process. The main molecule involved in antigen presentation, the human leukocyte antigen (HLA), is acknowledged as the most significant genetic factor associated with the onset of AIH. The majority of individuals with HLA-DR4positive AIH are middle- aged and older, and many of them respond well to immunosuppressive treatment. The significant proportion of HLA-DR4-positive cases (positivity rate ranging from 35% to 60%) among AIH patients in East Asia can fully explain the region's late onset and good therapeutic response [8, 9]. Conversely, younger adults with AIH who test positive for HLA-DR3 are more likely to experience treatment resistance [10]. These environmental factors have been assumed to be drug-induced cytotoxicity and immune tolerance failure caused by molecular mimicry between foreign and self-antigens. For drug-induced AIH, oral administration of statin drugs, antibiotics (nitrofurantoin and minocycline), Kampo medicines, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, uricosuric drugs, antituberculosis drugs, and dietary supplements could trigger insults [11–13]. Additionally, AIH has long been thought to be caused by a viral infection. It has been hypothesized that a viral infection triggers the activation of autoreactive T cells as a non-specific or antigen-specific reaction [14].

Thyroiditis (10–23%), ulcerative colitis (2–8%), celiac disease (1-2%), diabetes mellitus type 1 (7-9%), rheumatoid arthritis (2–5%), systemic lupus erythematosus (1-2%), vitiligo, and psoriasis are among the conditions that usually coexist with AIH. The greatest association has been encountered with Hashimoto thyroiditis [15, 16]. The clinical features are highly variable. In 26–70% of patients, symptoms appear within two to 120 months (about 10 years). Anorexia, fatigue, nausea, amenorrhea, weight loss, fluctuating jaundice, arthralgia, and/or pruritus are among the most non-specific symptoms of AIH. Simultaneously, approximately 30% of patients with AIH have "acute hepatitis," which is defined by extremely elevated aminotransferase levels (\geq 10 times the upper limit of normal); these patients typically have jaundice and require immediate medical attention [17]. A quarter or so of AIH patients have no symptoms [18]. In the absence of symptoms, distinctive hepatic biochemical and histologic abnormalities, including features of chronic hepatic failure, can be found.

As there is no disease-specific or definite diagnostic marker, the diagnosis of AIH is based on

positive autoantibodies (e.g., ANA, ASMA) and histological findings of interface hepatitis on biopsy. For the serology profile, elevated levels of AST and ALT are among the biochemical characteristics of AIH, while elevated serum IgG and positive autoantibody test results are key immunologic features. When histologically proven to be an active disease, both bilirubin and transaminase levels fluctuate over time and can spontaneously normalize. Thus, biochemical evidence of hepatitis cannot be used as an indicator of the disease's severity. In addition to being crucial for diagnosing AIH, a serological investigation usually (even though not necessarily) exhibits hypergammaglobulinemia with increased IgG and normal IgM and IgA levels. Serum IgG level tests are also essential for monitoring treatment outcomes and decreasing steroid dosage in AIH patients. From the immunologic features, the evaluation of autoantibodies is essential for the diagnosis of AIH. Eighty percent of cases are of type 1 AIH, which is mainly composed of antinuclear antibodies (ANA), smooth muscle antibodies (SMA), and anti-actin antibodies. Type 2 AIH is predominantly composed of seronegativity for SMA and ANA, as well as anti-liver-kidney microsomal antibody 1 (anti-LKM1). Type 2 is considered a more aggressive course. The initial steps in diagnosing AIH are ANA, SMA, and anti-LKM1 serology. ANA is important for diagnosis among autoantibodies. ASMA measurement is of the utmost importance for AIH diagnosis, in addition to ANA. Most countries in the Asia-Pacific region have a percentage of ASMA-positive AIH patients ranging from 19% to 45% [8, 19-21]. About 70% of AIH patients in Europe have positive ANA results, while between 30% and 60% have positive ASMA results [22–25]. In America, ASMA-positive AIH patients are more common than any other population, ranging from 45% to 84% [26, 27]. Higher rates of recurrence, more severe histological alterations, and an increased risk of liver transplantation (LT) or liver failure mortality are all associated with antisoluble liver antigen/liver pancreatitis (anti-SLA/LP). Anti-SLA/LP, however, is not very common, particularly in Asia. Up to 20% of clinical scenarios suggest that AIH possesses seronegativity for ANA, SMA, or anti-LKM1 [28]. According to fluctuating serology throughout the diseases, seronegativity for ANA, SMA, and anti-LKM1 at the initial presentation with acute hepatitis should be reevaluated after three to six months [29]. In seronegative AIH, atypical autoantibodies can be evaluated. A variety of double-strand DNA (dsDNA) antibodies, anti-actin antibodies, anti-a -actinin antibodies, antiliver cytosol 1 (anti-LC1) antibodies, anti-asialoglycoprotein receptor antibodies (anti-ASGPR), anti-liver kidney microsomal antibody 3 (LKM-3, anti-UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT)), and atypical perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (p-ANCA) could be positive beside the traditional typical autoantibodies in AIH. The seropositivity of atypical autoantibodies may increase diagnostic accuracy [30, 31]. Autoantibodies should be evaluated carefully, with atypical antibodies appearing after seronegativity for ANA, SMA, and antiLKM1. In circumstances where the immunologic profile is negative and AIH is still suspected in the non-diagnostic pre-treatment IAIHG revised diagnostic score, seronegative AIH is more likely to be established after other etiologies have been ruled out and the diagnosis is practically confirmed with an empirical three-month corticosteroid course [32]. The American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) and the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) guidelines both recommend liver biopsy as a means of supporting the diagnosis [31, 33]. As regards the previous versions of the simplified system for AIH diagnosis, liver histology is one of the parameters needed to validate the clinical diagnosis of AIH. The system consists of four parameters: AIH histology, which is coded as absent, typical, or compatible; autoantibodies; serum IgG; and the results of the viral hepatitis work-up. The results of histology could demonstrate overlapping characteristics of autoimmune biliary disorders and potentially coexisting disorders, particularly steatohepatitis of alcoholic or non- alcoholic disease, viral hepatitis, drug-induced liver injury (DILI), and other metabolic diseases (alpha1antitrypsin deficiency, hemochromatosis, and Wilson disease, especially in young patients). Interface hepatitis (70–80% of patients), plasma cell infiltration (66%), emperipolesis (65%), lobular hepatitis (47%), hepatocytic rosettes (33%), and centrilobular necrosis (29%) are the most common features. The presence of interface hepatitis with emperipolesis, rosettes, and lobular lymphoplasmacytic invasion can be considered "typical" histologic pictures of AIH. In the histological spectrum of AIH, predominant or exclusive centrilobular injury is now recognized and may indicate an early stage of the disease [34]. There is no histological difference between AIH type

1 and type 2 clinical subtypes [35-37]. Additionally, the histology of seronegative AIH is not different from that of patients with a typical spectrum of autoantibodies [37]. The biopsy also allows the assessment of the response to therapy and provides information on the disease's severity and the stage of fibrosis. Since non-invasive tests for the assessment of fibrosis have not been fully validated in AIH and ALT values do not properly correlate with the severity of the disease, grading of the inflammatory activity and staging of the fibrosis under histology findings are necessary and have implications for prognosis and therapy. The EASL guidelines state that treatment withdrawal is considered after biochemical remission, but it also requires histological remission, which is characterized as normal histology or minimal hepatitis (HAI < 4 or equivalent) [33]. The persistence of inflammation to any extent, particularly interface hepatitis, and the presence of plasma cells in biopsy samples collected during treatment are strong indicators of AIH relapse if immunosuppression is discontinued.

Since there is currently no gold standard test to diagnose AIH, various published criteria based on specific situations, each with its advantages and disadvantages, are applied. A diagnostic scoring system was proposed by the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group (IAIHG) in 1993 to objectively identify patients as having "definite" or "probable" AIH. The scoring system's extremely high sensitivity (range, 97-100%) for diagnosing AIH in different populations was demonstrated by the validation studies [38, 39]. It was determined that across multiple validation studies, the overall diagnostic accuracy was 89.8% [40]. To improve the ability to rule out alternative types of autoimmune liver diseases and to improve diagnostic accuracy, the IAIHG revised the original diagnostic criteria in 1999. However, it is challenging to apply the updated original criteria in clinical practice since it contains 29 possible grades and 15 components. The IAIHG established simplified international diagnostic criteria in 2008. Additionally, the simplified version helps diagnose typical AIH cases and has excellent diagnostic specificity. The authors determined that a "definite" diagnosis of AIH required a score below 7 points, while a "probable" diagnosis required a score of 6. Out of an overall score of 8 points. In a validation set, the simplified criteria yielded 88% sensitivity and 97% specificity for probable AIH and 81% sensitivity and 99% specificity for definite AIH [41]. Nevertheless, in atypical cases—that is, cases with an acute onset or involving young patients, the elderly, or those coexisting with viral hepatitis-these criteria may contribute to a diagnosis being overlooked [42]. As previously mentioned, AIH varies by race in terms of genetic background, clinical features, and treatment responsiveness. Nevertheless, the IAIHG scoring system remains widely used as a diagnostic tool for AIH in the majority of Asian countries except Japan, which has a unique AIH diagnostic guideline.

The optimal management plan in AIH is to control the disease, prevent the acute episode, and prevent the progression to advanced cirrhosis, or HCC. AIH is linked to a 1.5-fold higher 10-year risk of any cancer (which comprises non-melanoma skin cancer, HCC, lymphoma, and colorectal cancer) when compared to age- and sex-matched controls. Patients with cirrhosis had a greater likelihood of developing any type of cancer than people with AIH, particularly when receiving immunosuppressive therapy for an extended period. It is recommended to exercise caution because patients with AIH who are male, elderly, or have cirrhosis have a higher risk of developing HCC. Older patients with AIH diagnoses probably already have cirrhosis and need to be closely monitored. Abdominal ultrasonography for HCC and serum tumor markers should be performed to continuously and closely monitor them. There have been published reports from Asia, Europe, and the USA on research studies on AIH in the elderly. The international diagnostic criteria did not show any difference in scoring between the younger and older groups. Conversely, cirrhosis was much more prevalent in older AIH patients compared to younger AIH patients. Elderly AIH patients, even in Europe, had a higher incidence of ascites, suggesting that their fibrosis may be more advanced [43]. The proportion

of cirrhosis is rising, presumably due to a decline in the proportion caused by viral hepatitis, such as HBV or HCV. However, AIH was responsible for 1.7%–11% of all cases of chronic hepatic disease in South Asia [44, 45]. The majority of cases in South Asia are identified as AIH after they have advanced to the cirrhosis stage [46]. Therefore, it is crucial to suspect and diagnose AIH at the earliest stage before it establishes cirrhosis. Besides invasive liver biopsy for the evaluation of liver inflammation and fibrosis, non-invasive assessment methods are repeatable, inexpensive, and well-accepted as alternative tools. The degree of fibrosis in chronic liver diseases, including AIH, is now possible to determine using a variety of non-invasive laboratory techniques and radiology-based methods. Potential laboratory markers of hepatic fibrosis in AIH include the FibroTest®, the serum AST/platelet ratio index (APRI), the Fibrosis-4 index (FIB-4), the enhanced liver fibrosis (ELF) test, angiotensin-converting enzyme levels, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, mean platelet volume, and red cell distribution width. AIH and other chronic liver diseases can be effectively and reliably monitored with transient elastography (FibroScan), which is gradually replacing liver biopsies. Transient elastography proved advantageous in the Asia-Pacific area for predicting notable liver fibrosis in AIH patients. FibroScan measurements of liver stiffness outperformed other non-invasive markers in assessing fibrosis in AIH patients. For routine noninvasive staging of hepatic fibrosis in AIH patients, transient elastography can be used during follow-up or at the time of diagnosis. In patients with AIH, a non-invasive technique called Acoustic Radiation Force Impulse (ARFI) elastography may be utilized to distinguish between significant and non-significant liver fibrosis. It can also be used to track the progression of fibrosis in AIH patients. The most recent non-invasive method is magnetic resonance elastography. In AIH, there was a strong correlation between the results of MRE and the advanced fibrosis stage. Unfortunately, in the simultaneous occurrence of aminotransferase flare- ups, particularly in patients with advanced cirrhosis and fibrosis who exhibit acute hepatitis as a clinical pattern, the liver stiffness can be impacted by hepatic inflammation, necrosis, and swelling, resulting in non-invasive assessment methods that are not reliable instruments.

In conclusion, there are many variations of AIH in Asia. Among these are the regional variations in ethnic background and genetic variations that contribute to the clinical characteristics and prognosis of AIH. Because hepatitis B and C are so common in Asia, AIH tends to be overlooked and underdiagnosed. Although type 1 AIH cases with a good treatment response are common in Asia, the overall percentage of cirrhosis observed in patients at the time of AIH diagnosis is high, and more severe disease progression has been observed. Early detection and treatment of AIH may be able to improve the current situation in Asia. There is currently no reliable information or research investigating the clinical spectrum, serological

profiles, and epidemiology of the Vietnamese population that compares the findings to pertinent literature.

1.3. Primary Biliary Cholangitis

Chronic cholestatic liver disease known as primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), previously known as primary biliary cirrhosis, can progress to cirrhosis and liver failure if left untreated [47]. In genetically susceptible hosts, environmental factors causing immunological dysfunction can result in autoimmunity against the interlobular bile ducts. Middle-aged women are usually affected by PBC, which often manifests as fatigue, pruritus, or an asymptomatic elevation of serum glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) or alkaline phosphatase (ALP). The pathological characteristics include destructive, non- suppurative intrahepatic cholangitis that progresses and eventually results in cirrhosis and fibrosis. In clinical settings, antimitochondrial antibodies (AMAs), particularly the M2 subtype (AMA-M2), are very specific and sensitive to PBC. The most common treatment for this illness is ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA).

PBC was thought to be primarily seen in Western countries and relatively rare in Eastern ones until recently. Although this was most likely correct, no epidemiological data from Eastern countries was available. Epidemiological studies conducted in North America and Europe during the first ten years of the twenty-first century showed a prevalence of 11.5 to 22.7 per 100,000 people. Epidemiological data on PBC have been emerging from Oceanian and Asian countries since 2010; published studies from developed countries such as Japan, New Zealand, and South Korea were investigated. Recent research has consistently indicated a rising trend in PBC prevalence worldwide. As with other autoimmune diseases, an increasing trend may be partially explained by a greater awareness of PBC among physicians, but it most likely represents a substantially increasing number of PBC cases. However, several studies showed that incidence remained constant over time, raising the possibility that better patient outcomes for PBC patients could be the cause of an increasing prevalence. In summary, the estimated worldwide incidence and prevalence were 17.6 million per year and 146 million per year, respectively [48]. In comparison to North America (27.5 and 218.1 per million, respectively) and Europe (18.6 and 145.9 per million, respectively), the Asia-Pacific region's reported incidence and prevalence of PBC (8.4 and 98.2-118.8 per million, respectively) were lower [47, 49].

PBC's etiology remains unknown. An important role is played by the interaction of genetic/epigenetic, environmental, and immune factors [50]. As autoreactive T cells and serum AMAs are present in most cases, it has been proposed that this is an autoimmune mechanism. For genetically susceptible people, exposure to toxins, smoking cigarettes, and infectious agents can all compromise their immune system's capacity. According to reports, microbes that are

infected may function as cross-antigens and induce molecular mimicry, which could compromise self-tolerance and trigger autoimmune reactions directed toward the intrahepatic bile ducts [51].

Familial and genetic studies highlight the importance of genetic susceptibility for PBC. Recently, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified multiple genes in human leucocyte antigen (HLA) and non-HLA loci that confer PBC susceptibility. The immune abnormalities that were inherited were presented by the daughters of PBC patients, whose risk increased to 35 from the relative risk of 10 for siblings of PBC patients.

Middle-aged women (approximately 40–60 years old) are usually affected by PBC, with a female-to-male ratio as high as 10:1 [52, 53]. PBC is associated with several extrahepatic autoimmune diseases, including systemic sclerosis (1.4–12.3%), autoimmune thyroid disease (5.6-23.6%), Raynaud's phenomenon (1.8-5.6%), systemic lupus erythematosus (0-3.7%), and celiac disease (0.6-6%) [54]. Seventy-eight percent were female, and 46% had an extrahepatic autoimmune disorder. Certain autoantibodies related to rheumatologic disorders, such as those against centromere and SS-A/Ro-52kD, may correspond to the diagnosis and poorer outcome of PBC [55, 56].

PBC manifests clinically as pruritus, fatigue, and, less frequently, jaundice or cirrhosis-related problems. Nowadays, routine testing of liver biochemistry is mainly accountable for the early diagnosis of an increasing number of asymptomatic patients, particularly in East Asia. Nonetheless, within five years, two-thirds of the asymptomatic patients will progress into the symptomatic phase if they are not diagnosed or treated. Patients with symptomatic PBC typically exhibit jaundice, pruritus, or fatigue. Up to 80% of patients experience fatigue, which varies depending on the severity or course of the disease. Although the exact cause of fatigue is not known, abnormalities in the central nervous system caused by cholestasis and peripheral muscle dysfunction have been associated with autonomic dysfunction, daytime sleepiness, nighttime sleep disturbance, depression, and impaired concentration. Since 20–70% of patients experience pruritus, it's another common complaint among PBC patients. It may occur at any point—before, during, or after the onset of jaundice. Most PBC patients experience mild-tolerable pruritus, but some may experience severe and chronic pruritus.

Patients with PBC who have persistent cholestasis will ultimately progress to the advanced stage and experience complications related to cirrhosis and/or cholestasis if treatment is not received.

Patients with PBC may exhibit abnormal results in biochemical tests, including elevated immunoglobulins (primarily IgM), mildly elevated aminotransferases, and increased ALP and GGT. PBC can be diagnosed serologically using AMA, especially the AMA-M2 subtype,

which has a sensitivity and specificity of > 90–95% [57, 58]. Recombinant PDC-E2, BCOADC-E2, and OGDC-E2 proteins are the three main autoantigens of AMA, and AMA testing with ELISA (AMA-M2) uses these autoantigens to measure AMA specifically and sensitively compared to IIF. Given that Western blotting is highly specific for AMA detection, additional testing using a Western immunoblot against mitochondrial antigens may be useful for diagnosis in patients with a clinical suspicion of PBC but negative results from IIF and ELISAs. Up to 50% of PBC patients have detectable levels of anti-nuclear autoantibodies (ANAs), which are significant ancillary diagnostic markers of PBC. A few ANA patterns, such as the multiple nuclear dots pattern that targets multiple proteins, including sp100, and the rim-like membranous pattern that targets gp210 and p62, are highly specific for PBC. Anti-sp100 and anti-gp210 have a high specificity (both greater than 95%) but a low sensitivity ($15 \sim 40\%$) for AMA-negative PBC.

People who have cholestasis should have routine ultrasonography examinations. A diagnosis of PBC is extremely unlikely in patients with extrahepatic or intrahepatic bile duct dilatation on ultrasonography. To rule out other biliary diseases, such as cholelithiasis, inflammation (such as primary sclerosing cholangitis, PSC), or malignancy, one should instead consider magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP), endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), or endoscopic ultrasound.

The diagnosis of PBC can be established when meeting two or more of the following three criteria: biochemical evidence of cholestasis based mainly on the elevation of ALP and GGT with the exclusion of extrahepatic biliary obstruction by imaging studies; the presence of AMA or other PBC-specific ANAs, including anti-sp100 and anti-gp210; or histologic evidence of non- suppurative destructive cholangitis mainly affecting the interlobular bile ducts. Although there are more and more reports of PBC in Eastern nations, PBC seems to be more prevalent in Western populations. Many Asian studies have been done, but none of them include people from Vietnam. The management's goal is to minimize the disease's symptoms and ultimately prevent the condition from becoming more severe. The majority of PBC cases respond to or are under good control with UCDA and maintain a high standard of living. Because of this, the purpose of this study is to determine the immunologic profile, clinical features, and epidemiology of PBC in Vietnam and then to compare the results with current literature.

1.4. Primary sclerosing cholangitis

The progressive chronic inflammation of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts is known as primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC). Although the precise cause is unknown, there is a strong correlation with autoimmune conditions, especially ulcerative colitis (UC). Consequently, most PSC epidemiological research comes from the West. Even though population-based epidemiological studies are scarce, PSC, with or without ulcerative colitis, is less common in the Asia-Pacific and African regions [49, 59]. Based on results from MRCP, the overall prevalence of PSC in IBD is estimated to be 8%, and approximately 70% of PSC cases are associated with IBD; nearly 80% of IBD cases are related to ulcerative colitis [60, 61]. Young or middle-aged men with a history of IBD tend to have PSC. PSC has a prevalence of 0 to 31.7 per 100,000 persons and an incidence of 0.1 to 1.58 per 100,000 persons per year [62]. Increased use of higher-quality cross-sectional imaging modalities, such as contrastenhanced computed tomography, MRCP, and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), and increased awareness of subclinical disease may all be contributing factors to higher observed rates. On the other hand, asymptomatic disease rates are high. In patients with PSC, 44% do not exhibit any symptoms, especially in the early stages [63]. Patients may experience pruritus, fatigue, weight loss, and abdominal pain in the right upper quadrant as the disease advances. Elevated levels of gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) are two indicators of cholestasis found in laboratory tests. Up to 80% of cases show positive pANCA results, although this test is not advised for diagnosis. For diagnostic confirmation, ERCP or magnetic resonance MRCP are utilized. Liver transplantation is only used for end-stage liver disease; other liver diseases are mainly managed symptomatically. PSC may increase the risk of premature mortality and is associated with cholangiocarcinoma (CCA), gallbladder cancer, and colorectal cancer. Patients with PSC have a fourfold greater risk of death compared to the general population, but they also have a 398fold greater risk of developing CCA. After 39 years of the disease, the cumulative risk of developing CCA increases to an estimated 20%. In the first year following a PSC diagnosis, 27% of CCA cases are diagnosed, especially in younger patients, with nearly half of them diagnosed at index presentation. Additionally, PSC patients have a 10-fold higher risk of colorectal cancer, which manifests itself a median of 20 years earlier than in ulcerative colitis controls (median age 39 vs. 59 years) [60].

PSC seems to be more prevalent in Western populations, even though reports of PBC in Eastern nations are rising—exactly like what researchers aim for in PBC. The majority of cases go undiagnosed, and if treatment is put off, it may even progress to advanced decompensated liver cirrhosis or colorectal cancer (CCA). The ultimate goal of this research is to investigate the immunologic profiles, clinical spectrum, and epidemiological characteristics of PSC in the Vietnamese patients.

In conclusion, even chronic liver disease from viral hepatitis, alcohol-related disorders, NASH/NALFD, and autoimmune liver diseases from the liver parenchymal and biliary tracts have been a burden for the healthcare system in the last several years. Since most reports from

Western sites and developed Asian countries are based on increased awareness of these diseases, information from developing countries—particularly Vietnam—is lacking, we conducted an observational, descriptive, cross-sectional study as this retrospective study which aims to two specific objectives as:

• Characterize the clinical characteristics, serology, and autoimmunology spectrum of ALD in Vietnam patients in suspected ALD patients.

• Determine the sensitivity and specificity of the autoimmune EUROLINE trip test of ALD in suspected ALD patients.

Chapter 2 Research Design And Methodology

2.1. Research Aim

- Characterize the clinical characteristics, serology, and autoimmunology spectrum of ALD in Vietnam patients in suspected ALD patients.
 - Determine the sensitivity and specificity of the autoimmune EUROLINE trip test of

ALD in suspected ALD patients.

- **2.2. Type Of Research:** a cross-sectional study.
- 2.3. Research Population: suspected ALD Vietnamese adult patients.
- 2.4. Research Duration: from January 2021 to April 2024.

2.5. Sampling Design And Method

2.5.1. Sampling Frame

- Frame list: listed in the Appendix A
- Area frames: the Vinmec International Hospital and 108 Military Center Hospital

2.5.2. Inclusion And Exclusion Criteria

- Inclusion criteria:
 - Age ≥ 18 years.
 - \circ AST, ALT, or ALP ≥ 2 times of upper normal limit.
 - \circ GGT \geq 5 times of upper normal limit.
 - No preexisting liver disease was detected.
 - o Serology negative for viral hepatitis (HBV, HCV, HAV, HEV), HSV, CMV,

EBV.

• Exclusion criteria:

- \circ Age < 18 years.
- \circ AST, ALT, or ALP < 2 times of upper normal limit.
- GGT < 5 times of upper normal limit.
- Preexisting liver disease detected.
- Incomplete medical records.

• Confirmed acute liver failure with liver injury (abnormal liver tests), INR >1.5, and hepatic encephalopathy within 26 weeks.

 \circ Fulfill the criteria for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, alcohol-associated liver disease with alcohol consumption > 25 g/day, Wilson's disease, or hereditary hemochromatosis.

• Using any drug-induced liver injury.

2.5.3. Sample Size: 458 patients

2.5.4. Sampling Method: Convenience sampling

2.6. Data collection method

2.6.1. Operationalization

• AIH diagnosis criteria from 2008 IAHG simplified criteria for the diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis: patient score of more than 6 was probable AIH, and more than 7 was definite AIH.

 $\circ \quad \text{ANA or SMA positive [titers \ge 1:40] (1 point), ANA or SMA positive [titers \ge 1:80] or LKM positive [titers \ge 1:40] (2 points)}$

• IgG titers over the UNL (1 point), or over 10% above the upper normal limit (2

• Histology compatible with AIH (1 point), or typical of AIH (interface hepatitis)

(2 points)

points)

limit.

- Absence of viral hepatitis (2 points)
- AIH subtype:
 - Type 1 AIH: AIH with ANA, ASMA, or SLA/LP was positive
 - Type 2 AIH: AIH with LKM-1, or LC-1 was positive

• Seronegative AIH: diagnosis AIH without positivity of antibodies (with typical histology finding).

• PBC diagnosis criteria from Practice Guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases in 2018: more than 2 of 3 of the following criteria were met:

- \circ ALP \geq 2 times of upper normal limit and/or GGT \geq 5 times of upper normal
 - AMA positive or sp100 or gp210 positive

• Histologic evidence of nonsuppurative destructive cholangitis and destruction of interlobular bile ducts.

• PSC diagnosis criteria from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases in 2022:

- Exclusion of secondary sclerosing cholangitis
- o Elevated serum cholestatic pattern tests
- o Multifocal strictures of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts on MRCP
- Histology in case the highly considered
- Overlapping AIH PBC syndrome Paris criteria:
 - $\circ \geq 2 \text{ of } 3 \text{ features associated with AIH:}$
 - Serum alanine aminotransferase level ≥ 5 times of upper normal limit
 - IgG level ≥ 2 times of upper normal limit or SMA positive

- Interface hepatitis on histological examination
- $\circ \geq 2 \text{ of } 3 \text{ features associated with PBC:}$

• Serum ALP ≥ 2 times of upper normal limit; or GGT level ≥ 5 times of upper normal limit

- AMA positive
- Florid duct lesions or destructive cholangitis on histological examination

2.6.2. Research Variables

• Demographic data: age, gender, weight, height, body mass index, comorbidities, other autoimmune diseases.

• Clinical manifestations: asymptomatic and symptomatic which include fatigue, jaundice, pruritis, loss of appetite, abdominal discomfort, cirrhosis

• Serologic biochemistry profile: AST (reference range for individuals: 14 - 20 international units per liter (IU/L) for male and 10 - 36 UI/L for females), ALT (reference range for individuals: 29 - 33 IU/L for males and 19 - 25 IU/L for females), ALP (reference range for individuals: 44 to 147 IU/L), GGT (reference range for individuals: below 50 IU/L), IgG (reference range for individuals: 700–1600 mg/dL).

Autoimmune profile: ANA, LKM, AMA, SMA, SLA/LP, ASMA, AMA – M2, M2 – 3E, sp100, PML, gp210, LKM-1, LC-1, SLA/LP, SS-A, Ro-52, Scl-70, CENP A, CENP B, PGDH.

2.6.3. Research Sources, Tools, And Modalities

• Research sources:

• Demographic data and clinical manifestations data: collected from electric medical records available, and accessible in the medical network system in both hospitals.

• Serologic biochemistry profile: collected from the laboratory network system in both hospitals.

• Autoimmune profile: collected from the laboratory network system in the Vinmec International Hospital.

• Research tools and modalities:

• Demographic data and clinical manifestations data: collected from electric medical records.

 Serologic biochemistry profile: using Roche module Cobas 6000 (C-501, Roche Diagnostics International AG, Rotkreuz ZG, Switzerland)

• Autoimmune profile: Screening test: ANA, LKM, AMA, and SMA by indirect immunofluorescence testing using HEp2 cells and rodent substrate including kidney, liver, and stomach cells. SLA/LP by indirect immunofluorescence testing using transfected cells. ASMA

against F – actin using VSM47 cells. The determination of the total immunoglobulin G (IgG) titer is performed using a COBAS INTEGRA 400 plus analyzer — (Roche Diagnostics International AG, Rotkreuz ZG, Switzerland). The determination of ANCA is by indirect immunofluorescence testing. Confirmation test as Multiparametric EUROLINE Autoimmune Liver Diseases 14 Ag test: AMA – M2, M2 – 3E, sp100, PML, gp210, LKM-1, LC-1, SLA/LP, SS-A, Ro-52, Scl-70, CENP A, CENP B, PGDH using antigen – coasted test trips.

• Data collection procedures: All patients who met the inclusion criteria listed above who were tracked at the International Vinmec Times City hospital and the 108 Military Center hospital in Hanoi, Vietnam, from January 2021 to April 2024, were the subjects of a retrospective analysis that we conducted. Before any data collection, the proposal will be approved by both the IRB at Vinmec Times City Hospital and VinUniversity. Additionally extracted were the patient's demographic information, clinical history at presentation, and the outcomes of laboratory and serologic testing at diagnosis. When available, liver biopsy results were collected. Several chemistry and serologic profiles (listed above) are collected by the same standardized laboratory unit, and the liver biopsy is obtained and evaluated by histopathologists. The researcher entered all the data into the established electronic case report form (eCRF). The researcher underwent repeated education based on the original and updated data guidelines, and data cleaning, in addition to a bimonthly correction of detected errors and subsequent monitoring, was performed by an independent professional data manager to manage the quality of data provided by multiple centers.

2.7. Data Analysis Method

Statistical analysis of all data was conducted using the statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous data were reported as means, median, and range, while categorical data were reported as frequencies [n (%)]. Associations between categorical variables were assessed using the chi-squared test (χ 2). Two-tailed Mann–Whitney U test (M–W), and Kruskal–Wallis test (K–W) were used to investigate possible associations between scale variables and categorical variables. p values < 0.050 were considered statistically significant.

2.8. Research Framework



2.9. Ethical Approval

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of International Vinmec Times City Hospital **and** VinUniversity. Without facing any discrimination, participants are liberated to withdraw at any moment and decline to respond to any research questions. The computerized data collection process encrypts all personally identifiable information, which is kept private and accessible only to researchers for study requirements. The study's findings are disclosed anonymously.

Chapter 3 Thesis Results

3.1. Demographics Of Suspected Autoimmune Liver Diseases Patients

Table 3.1.1: Characteristics of the epidemiology of suspected autoimmune liver diseases

patients in Vietnam.

	ALD (N = 458)
Age (years)*	50.00, 49.76
	(23.00 - 73.00)
Female (%)	56.33
Overweight/obese (%)	39.45

*Data were presented as mean, median, minimum, maximum.

Comment: The proportion of female patients was 56.33% with a male-to-female ratio of 1:1.3. The mean age was 49.76 years (ranging from 23 to 73 years). No patient was underweight, and 39.45% of patients were in the overweight or obese category.

Table 3.1.2: Characteristics of co-morbidities in suspected ALD patients.

Underlying diseases		
No co-morbidity detected (%)	72.28	
Co-morbidities (%)	27.72	

Comment: 331 patients, or 72.28% of the 458 patients, were in the group where no comorbidity had been identified. The group with detected comorbidities had a minor proportion.



Figure 3.1.1: Distribution of comorbidities of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort

Comment: The majority (57.48%) of the co-morbidities identified in the group had cholelithiasis. Graves' disease was more common than Hashimoto's thyroiditis among the autoimmune diseases in the study cohort, with a thyroid-autoimmune disease proportion of 25.20 percent.



Figure 3.1.2: Distribution of liver enzymes of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort. **Comment:** The mean and range of the liver parenchymal injury pattern were 345.83 IU/L (from 25 IU/L to 698 IU/L) for AST and 574.94 IU/L (from 48 IU/L to 1172 IU/L) for ALT. The mean and range of the cholestasis pattern were 275.92 IU/L (from 56 IU/L to 582 IU/L) for ALP and 411.53 IU/L (from 23 IU/L to 1465 IU/L) for GGT. The AST-to-ALT ratio was 0.601, which suggested the destruction of the liver in general. The liver injury R factor (R factor) was 6.3, which suggested a hepatocellular injury.

3.2. Demographics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

Table 3.2.1: Number of cases diagnosed with ALD from in study cohort per year.

Date	Suspected ALD	AIH	РВС
	Number (N)	number (n)	number (n)
2021	117	1	1
2022	158	8	7
2023	183	1	14
Total	458	10	22

Comment: 458 patients underwent screening and confirmation for autoimmune liver disease;

however, only 32 cases were found to fulfill the diagnostic criteria. The final study population consisted of thirty-two ALD-diagnosed patients, of whom 10 (31.25%) patients had AIH and 22 (68.75%) patients had PBC; no case of PSC or overlapping syndrome was diagnosed during that specific time.

	AIH (n = 10)	PBC (n=22)
Age (years)*	51 (23 - 73)	49 (19 – 84)
Female n(%)	8(80)	17 (77.3)
Overweight/obese n(%)	6 (60)	12 (54.5)
Other autoimmune	None	None
Recurrent cholelithiasis n(%)	None	10 (45.45)

Table 3.2.2: Characteristics of the epidemiology in AIH and PBC

*Data were presented as mean, minimum and maximum.

Comment: For the AIH group, the proportion of female patients was 8 (80.00%) and male was 2 (20.00%), with a male-to-female ratio of 1:4. The mean age was 51 years (range from 23 to 73 years). No patient was underweight, and 60.00% of patients fell into the overweight or obese category. For the PBC group, the proportion of female patients was 17 (77.30%) and males were 5 (22.70%), with a male-to-female ratio of 1:3.4. The mean age was 49 years (range from 19 to 84 years). No patient was underweight, 45.50% of patients fell into the normal range, and 54.50% of patients fell into the overweight or obese category. Co-morbidities in seven out of twenty-two PBC patients were identified as recurrent cholelithiasis (ten out of twenty-two, 45.45%). Among the comorbidities detected, female patients were predominant (six out of seven, 85.71%). No other autoimmune disease was found at the time of diagnosis in both groups.

AIH subtypes	n (%)
AIH type 1	8 (80)
AIH type 2	1 (10)
Seronegative AIH	1 (10)

Table 3.2.3: Distribution of AIH subtypes in the study cohort.

Comment: Seven of the ten patients had probable AIH (70.00%), two had definite AIH (20.00%), and one had seronegative AIH (10.00%) at the time of diagnosis without any information on the histology. Seven of the nine patients in the group with seropositive AIH are type 1 (77.78%), and two are type 2 (33.32%).

3.3. Clinical Manifestations Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases



Figure 3.3.1 Characteristics of the clinical manifestations in AIH and PBC in the study cohort. **Comment:** The symptomatic group predominated in both diseases by a significant percentage (70.00% in the AIH group and 63.60% in the PBC group). None of the patients in the study cohort displayed acute liver injury or signs or symptoms of cirrhosis, which include splenomegaly, ascites, caput medusae, hepatic encephalopathy, or palmar erythema.



Figure 3.3.2: Characteristics of the clinical symptoms in AIH and PBC in the study cohort. **Comment:** Generalized fatigue was the most common chief complaint across the entire patient group (100.00%). Loss of appetite (71.42% in the AIH group and 4.14% in the PBC group), mild to moderate jaundice (28.57% in the AIH group and 35.71% in the PBC group), and abdominal discomfort (14.28% in the AIH group and 4.14% in the PBC group). 14.28% of PBC cases of pruritus were reported, and the AIH study group did not have any data on this symptom.

3.4. Biochemistry Serology Characteristics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

Table 3.4.1: Characteristics of the biochemistry laboratory results in AIH and PBC in the study cohort.

Variable	AIH	PBC
IgG (mg/dL)	2007.82, 1718.70 (1597.70 – 3465.50)	No data available
	444.07, 479.60	84.09, 80.00
AST (IU/L)	(25.00 - 698.00)	(34.00 – 165.00)
ALT (IU/L)	561.82, 147.51	105.73, 97.00
	(84.00 – 1172.90)	(37.00 - 201.00)
GGT (IU/L)	224.66, 154.46	387.06, 270.50
	(44.00 – 591.00)	(23.00 – 1465.00)
ALP (IU/L)	175.24, 147.52	213.67, 190.08
	(56.40 – 327.10)	(56.10 – 514.70)

Data were presented as mean, median, and range. ALP, alkaline phosphatase; ALT, alanine transaminase; AST, aspartate transaminase; GGT, gamma- glutamyl transpeptidase; IgG, immunoglobulin G; IU/L, International Units Per Liter; mg/dL, Milligrams Per Deciliter **Comment:** For the AIH group, the mean AST and ALT were 444.07 IU/L and 561.82 IU/L,

comment. For the AIT group, the mean AST and ALT were 444.07 10/L and 501.82 10/L, respectively. More than ten times the upper normal limit was exceeded by both of these liver parenchymal injury enzymes. The AST-to-ALT ratio was 0.791. The mean GGT and ALP were 224.66 IU/L and 175.24 IU/L, respectively. The liver injury R factor (R factor) was 9.5. The liver injury pattern in AIH was predominant. All patients had IgG levels that were greater than 1.1 times the upper normal limit, both at the mean and median levels (2007.82 mg/dL and 1718.70 mg/dL). For the PBC, as mentioned above, no available data was collected from total Ig, IgM, or IgG. The mean AST and ALT were 84.09 IU/L and 105.73 IU/L, respectively. Both of these liver parenchymal injury enzymes were mildly elevated, more than two times the upper normal limit in some circumstances; the maximum levels were moderately increased, five times the upper normal limit (165.00 IU/L and 201.00 IU/L). The AST-to-ALT ratio was 0.795. On the other hand, the mean GGT and ALP were 387.06 IU/L and 213.67 IU/L, respectively. The R factor was 1.5, which pointed toward cholestatic injury.



3.5. Autoantibodies Spectrum Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases





Figure 3.5.2: Proportion of single antibody compared with multiple antibodies in AIH and PBC at the time of diagnosis

Comment: In the AIH group, two (22.22%) were positive for only one antibody (ANA). The remaining seven cases (77.78%) tested positive for multiple antibodies, one of which was always ANA and the others could be typical, atypical, or prognostic autoantibodies. A single antibody-positive PBC was found in a small percentage of the study group (18.18%). In the remaining eighteen cases, multiple antibodies were detected (81.82%), regardless of either the AMA and its subtype or the specific cholestatic ANA (sp100 and gp210).

3.6. The Calculated Hospital-Based Prevalence Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

AIH							
EUROLINE 14 Ag test	Confirm diagnosis	Total					
Positive	9	26	35				
Negative	1	422	423				
Total	10	448	458				
	PI	BC					
EUROLINE 14 Ag test	Confirm diagnosis	Absence of disease	Total				
Positive	22	37	59				
Negative	0	399	399				
Total	22	436	458				

Table 3.6.1: The sensitivity and specificity of the EUROLINE 14 Ag test in AIH and PBC

Comment: In the AIH group, the calculated hospital-based sensitivity was 90.00% (95%CI

[55.50 - 99.75]) and the calculated hospital-based specificity was 94.20% (95%CI [91.61 - 96.17]). In the PBC group, the calculated hospital-based sensitivity was 100.00% (95%CI [84.56 -100.00]) and the calculated hospital-based specificity was 91.51% (95%CI [88.49 - 93.95]). The calculated hospital-based prevalence was 2.18% (95% CI [1.05–3.98]) in the AIH group and 4.80% (95% CI [3.03–7.18]) in the PBC group.

Chapter 4 Discussion

4.1. Demographics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

4.1.1. About Gender, Age, BMI Distributions

This study showed females were predominant in both diseases (80.00% in AIH and 77.30% for PBC), with a male-to-female ratio of AIH and PBC of 1:4 and 1:3.4, respectively. Compared with available published data from Asia-Pacific regions, the male-to-female ratios from Japan, South Korea, and China were 1:43, 1:5.9, and 1:6.8; the highest ratio was 1:1.5 in Pakistan and the lowest ratio was 1:20 in South Israel. In the United States and Europe, the male-to-female ratio ranged from 1:2.6 (in Denmark) to 1:9 (in Alaska) [3]. Females in this study were also predominant in ALD, even in the AIH or PBC, as in other publications. The gender difference that is more vulnerable to the disease could be explained by specific immunogenetic factors and sex hormones [64]. The average age for AIH and PBC was 51 years (range from 23 to 73 years) and 49 years (range from 19 to 84 years). These results were comparable to the published research from around the world recently. Even though in the last several researchers noticed the Asia cohort might be more likely to be diagnosed later and older than patients from Western countries, the reality showed that most of the average age from Europe and the developing countries from Asia were around middle age, 51.08 years (ranging from 36.00 years to 59.90 years; the median was 52.80 years) [4]. From the body mass index factor in patients with ALD, there was no patient underweight, and surprisingly enough, more than half of the patients belonged to the overweight or obese range (60.00% in AIH and 54.50% in PBC). In comparison to Western countries, the population of Vietnam had a lower percentage of overweight and obese patients due to traditional or cultural nutrition behaviors, differences in sedative lifestyles, and other environmental factors. Even though the population with a BMI greater than 23 was modest, this group was diagnosed with ALD more frequently than patients with a BMI less than 23. As a literature review, most of the previous studies showed obesity may be a significant factor in the development of autoimmune disease because the immune system could work inappropriately. Overactivation of intracellular nutrient and energy-sensing pathways in overweight or obese people causes metabolic overload in peripheral tissues involved in immune responses. Additionally, inflammatory cytokines secreted by adipose tissue include leptin, interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6, IL-17, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and interferon-gamma. These cytokines could enhance the risk of autoimmunity and damage to peripheral tissues. [65–67]. Fortunately, despite experiencing a higher risk of developing an autoimmune disease, patients with a BMI of greater than 23 had better outcomes with ALD, including a lower likelihood of portal hypertension, ascites, variceal hemorrhage, and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. [68]. Furthermore, the higher weight in this group may suggest a less severe case of ALD. Due to

this, there was no evidence of cirrhosis in the obese patients in this study, and their baseline liver enzyme values showed chronic abnormalities rather than acute liver disease or any decompensated liver end-stage disease.

4.1.2. About The Definite AIH Diagnosis Based On Scoring Systems And The Subtype Of AIH Distributions

For the AIH group, at the time of diagnosis, the probable AIH, which scored more than six points, was higher than the group of definite AIH, which scored more than seven points, according to the simplified criteria in 2008. As with the other research for AIH, the probability of a probable group was higher as compared to non-invasive methods to meet the criteria of biochemistry and

immunology without evidence of histology [69-71].

Seronegative AIH was detected at 10.00% in the study cohort, and compared to the updated research, seronegative AIH was underdiagnosed and delayed treatment. Even the published research demonstrated that this atypical presentation proportion ranged from 7 to 34%, with an average of 10% of diagnosed AIH [32,72,73].

The diagnosis of the AIH subtypes was based on the immunologic profile. The study showed 77.78% of type 1. This result was more similar to the percentage in the Europe and North America group, where the average number was 74.2% with a range from 72% to 76.7%. Even though there was a lack of data on human leukocyte antigen in the Vietnamese population, the percentage of type 1 was suitable to the result published from previous research, which noticed that the HLA-DR4 is associated with the characteristics of type 1 AIH in East Asia and the HLA-DR3 occurs in AIH patients from South Asia with characteristics of type 2 [3]

4.1.3. About The Comorbidities And Concurrent Autoimmune Diseases

There was insufficient data from both groups in the area of concurrent auto-immune disorders for the comorbidities in the study cohort. This is because most common diseases in the general healthcare burden, like focusing on dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension, were automatically recorded during the history-taking process as a daily basic requirement so that concurrent autoimmune diseases could be misdiagnosed. Furthermore, the majority of patients included in the research came from general medicine outpatient wards or gastrointestinal surgery clinics, where they are not seen by immunologists. As a result, there may be a higher rate of underdiagnosis of other autoimmune disorders.

In the PBC, recurrent cholelithiasis was detected in almost half of the group (45.45%) which is related to chronic cholestasis condition in the biliary tract. Bacterial translocation and biliary infection are caused by decreased bile acid secretion and altered gut microbiota, which ultimately contribute to the development of various types of gallstones [74]. Even though the diagnosis of PBC was fulfilled after ruling out other cholestasis disorders, in patients with non-

cirrhotic PBC, concurrent cholelithiasis was a common and independent risk factor linked to a worse prognosis [75]. The percentage of cholelithiasis in this study was higher than in the previous research (45.45% as opposed to 22.90%) and could be explained by the BMI (more than 23), age (more than 40s), and gender (female predominance) of the study group were favorable for the development of the stones within the gallbladder.

4.2. Clinical Manifestations Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

The symptomatic manifestations predominated the clinical manifestations of both diseases (70.00% for AIH and 63.60% for PBC). The proportion of asymptomatic individuals was small, consistent with previous research on ALD.

The most common complaint in the AIH symptomatic group was fatigue (100.00%), followed by a loss of appetite (71.42%). When compared to earlier studies, fatigue came in second (49.69%), with jaundice coming in first (59.01%). The degree of abnormalities in biochemical serology could be responsible for the differences in the frequency of clinical manifestations between the two studies. The elevation of the cholestatic enzyme ALP was at the same levels (the mean value of this study and the previous one were 174.24 IU/L and 196 IU/L). Otherwise, the elevated liver parenchymal injury was significantly higher in this study when compared to previous data. AST and ALT were 444.07 IU/L and 561.82 IU/L in this study, respectively, in contrast with 166 IU/L and 129 IU/L [76]. Loss of appetite and fatigue were reported more frequently than cholestatic symptoms such as pruritis and jaundice considering there was a significant increase in liver injury compared to cholestasis (R factor was 9.5).

According to the PBC clinical manifestation spectrum, the frequency of jaundice and pruritis was higher in the AIH group even though the mean level of ALP in this study was less than half that of the previous research (213.67 IU/L versus 432 IU/L) [76]. This resulted in an injury pattern from cholestasis that was greater than the injury from liver parenchyma (R factor was 1.5).

4.3. Biochemistry Serology Characteristics Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

In the AIH group, the liver injury pattern was higher when compared to the cholestatic pattern. On the other hand, in the PBC group, the cholestatic pattern was predominantly higher. As a literature review, these elevated liver enzymes in each group have no difference among the research [76].

4.4. Autoantibodies Spectrum Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

The standard serological assortment for AIH diagnosis encompasses ANA, SMA, and anti-LKM1. In this study, ANA was still the one auto-antibody that had the highest frequency. The anti-SMA was 10.00% and the anti-LKM1 was 20.00%. Twenty-two percent of AIH patients had ANA, SMA, or LKM1 as an isolated serological finding at presentation, while seventyseven percent had multiple autoantibodies. These percentages were not consistent with the other data; in earlier studies, the proportion of a single autoantibody to multiple autoantibodies was roughly approximately fifty percent (49.00% and 51.00%). Numerous studies have shown that if two ANA and SMA were detected together at presentation, the diagnostic accuracy in the case of multiple autoantibodies increased from 58.00% to 74.00%. In autoimmune hepatitis, ANA and SMA were the most common serological combinations (43.000%), whereas AMA, LKM1, SMA, and ANA were only detected in 8.00% of cases [77]. The most frequent combination in this study was ANA and LKM1 (two of the nine seropositive AIH cases), followed by ANA and SMA (one of the nine seropositive AIH cases). Furthermore, this investigation found that only one case had baseline positive results for ANA, AMA, and LKM1, the three conventional auto-antibodies. Although the sensitivity of each combination in the autoimmune spectrum was low, the specificity for establishing AIH ranged from 94.00% to 100.00% [77]. Apart from the standard typical autoantibodies of AIH, prognostic factors accompanying the typical autoantibody, as well as SLA/LP, LC-1, SS-A, and CENP A/B, were detected positive in cases of minority [55,78]. In the PBC group, the AMA, AMA-M2, AMA-M2 3E, and ANA were the common autoantibodies detected in the study cohort. A single autoantibody-positive PBC was found in three out of the twenty-two cases, and these belonged to the only anti-sp100 or only anti-gp210. Multiple seropositivity antibodies were detected; 36.36% of cases were two-marker presented, and 45.46% of cases were more than three-marker presented. Antibodies against the centromere (CENP-A and CENP-B), anti-sp100, and antigp210 exhibited promise as prognostic markers in addition to the standard diagnostic antibodies for PBC diagnosis. Twenty-seven percent of PBC patients have anti-sp100, 16-25% have antigp210, and 16% have anti-centromere antibodies, respectively [78]. In this study, the proportion of anti-gp210 was 36.40%, anti-sp100 was 18.20%, and no case was noted as positive for anticentromere. As mentioned above in the AIH autoantibodies spectrum, the more antibodies detected in the trip test, the more accurate the PBC diagnosis.

4.5. The Calculated Hospital-Based Prevalence Of Autoimmune Liver Diseases

Taking into consideration the rarity of the disease worldwide, the global pooled prevalence of AIH was found to be 15.65 cases per 100,000 people, and the prevalence of AIH in Asia was 4.23 cases per 100,000 people. This recent study showed a calculated hospital-based AIH prevalence of 2.18% (95% CI [1.05–3.98]), which was higher than other results from previous studies. In the same situation, the estimated worldwide prevalence was 146 million per year and 118.75 cases per million in the Asia-Pacific region, respectively. The study result reported that the calculated hospital-based PBC prevalence was 4.80% (95% CI [3.03–7.18]), which is also

higher than other published research. ALDs such as AIH and PBC have increased significantly and exhibit substantial variation across regions worldwide. Especially, several studies from Asia have noted an increase in concern for these rare disorders recently. Despite the increased prevalence, the number of other studies from Asia was still lower than those published in Western countries. The explanation for this misappropriated result was based on the inclusion criteria, which included confirmed-diagnosed cases and suspected ALD patients. On the other hand, the high ALD prevalence reported by this study was conducted on people who came to a hospital health checkup, which means the patients suspected of ALD, including the asymptomatic groups and mildly symptomatic patients, were able to reach a tertiary hospital. This may not be the same as the general healthy population and overestimate the ALD prevalence. With these factors, the calculated prevalence in this study was only represented for the suspected group of ALD and not for the whole population in Vietnam, which made the number of cases of both diseases quite high.

4.6. Research Limitations

This study had several limitations that with the essential cautions in the study of rare diseases, should be taken into account when interpreting results, including the retrospective design. Because the current study's data was obtained from medical records, there is the potential that certain of the information is of poor quality or incorporates a few missing variables. Additionally, the fact that the current study was conducted at a tertiary care teaching hospital in Hanoi, Vietnam and that the majority of its patients came from the country's central region, suggests that the sample may not be entirely representative of the nation. Due to the relative rarity of ALD, we were unable to recruit a large number of patients for this study. There was a probability that a small sample size would affect how accurate the analysis's conclusions were.

Conclusions

To sum up, this research highlights the immunological and clinical features of ALD in Vietnam. 10 AIH patients and 22 PBC patients were detected among the suspected ALD population, and there is no data for PSC or any overlapping syndrome. The characteristics of epidemiology, clinical features, and autoimmune profile are compatible with those of the other Asia-Pacific cohort. The predominant gender detected was female in both groups (80.00% and 77.30%) and within middle age (around 50 years). The majority of patients had nonspecific symptoms and fatigue was reported the most in both groups. Depending on the pattern of ALD, the more serology antibodies were positive, the more accurately ALD was diagnosed in comparison to positive single antibody cases. The ANA and AMA were the most detected antibodies regardless of the single or multiple antibody-positive situations.

Recommendations

Beforehand, most suspected ALD cases were underdiagnosed or misdiagnosed not only because of the lack of awareness from general medicine clinical physicians but also the required invasive modalities to establish the diagnosis. The utility of an autoimmune profile as a noninvasive test in diagnosing and prognosis is proven to be more advantageous, and the more positive multiple antibodies presented, the more accurate the ALD diagnosis, as per the perspective of this study.

Overdiagnosis may result from antibodies identified during the confirmation trip test and screening tests in the general population. Otherwise, in the exceptional case of the suspected ALD group, the advantage of detectable or available autoantibodies assists in the scoring system's scoring before utilizing the biopsy in a significant number of cases, thus minimizing the risk of procedure-related complications and reducing the cost of invasive methods.

Consequently, we propose building on the findings of the current pilot study and establishing a national database for Vietnam to further investigate this rare disease in the future.

Appendices

Appendix A

Research data summary and results

Table 3.1.1: Characteristics of the epidemiology of suspected autoimmune liver diseases patients in Vietnam.

	ALD (N = 458)
Age (years)	50.00, 49.76
	(23.00 - 73.00)
Female (%)	56.33
Overweight/obese (%)	39.45

Data were presented as mean, median, and range.

Table 3.1.2: Characteristics of co-morbidities in suspected ALD patients.



Figure 3.1.1: Distribution of comorbidities of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort



Figure 3.1.2: Distribution of liver enzymes of the suspected ALD patients in the study cohort. Table 3.2.1: Number of cases diagnosed ALD from in study cohort per year.

Date	Suspected ALD	AIH	PBC	
	Number (N)	number (n)	number (n)	
2021	117	1	1	
2022	158	8	7	
2023	183	1	14	
Total	458	10	22	

Table 3.2.2: Characteristics of the epidemiology in AIH and PBC

	AIH (n = 10)	PBC (n=22)
Age (years)	51 (23 - 73)	49 (19 – 84)
Female (%)	8(80)	17 (77.3)
Overweight/obese (%)	6 (60)	12 (54.5)
Other autoimmune	None	None
Recurrent cholelithiasis (%)	None	45.45

Data were presented as mean and range.



Table 3.2.3: Distribution of AIH subtypes in the study cohort.

0



🗆 AST 🗖 ALT 🗖 GGT 🗖 ALP



Figure 3.3.2: Characteristics of the clinical symptoms in AIH and PBC in the study cohort.

Variable	AIH	РВС
IgG (mg/dL)	2007.82, 1718.70 (1597.70 – 3465.50)	No data available
AST (IU/L)	444.07, 479.60 (25.00 - 698.00)	84.09, 80.00 (34.00 – 165.00)
ALT (IU/L)	561.82, 147.51 (84.00 – 1172.90)	105.73, 97.00 (37.00 – 201.00)
GGT (IU/L)	224.66, 154.46 (44.00 – 591.00)	387.06, 270.50 (23.00 – 1465.00)
ALP (IU/L)	175.24, 147.52 (56.40 – 327.10)	213.67, 190.08 (56.10 – 514.70)

Table 3.4.1: Characteristics of the biochemistry laboratory results in AIH and PBC in the study cohort.

Data were presented as mean, median, and range. ALP, alkaline phosphatase; ALT, alanine transaminase; AST, aspartate transaminase; GGT, gamma- glutamyl transpeptidase; IgG, immunoglobulin G; IU/L, International Units Per Liter; mg/dL, Milligrams Per Deciliter



Figure 3.5.1: Autoantibodies spectrum of AIH and PBC at the time of diagnosis



Figure 3.5.2: Proportion of single antibody compared with multiple antibodies in AIH and PBC at the time of diagnosis

AIH						
EUROLINE 14 Ag test	Confirm diagnosis	Absence of disease	Total			
Positive	9	26	35			
Negative	1	422	423			
Total	10	448	458			
	PI	BC				
EUROLINE 14 Ag testConfirm diagnosisAbsence of diseaseTotal						
Positive	22	37	59			
Negative	0	399	399			
Total	22	436	458			

Table 3.6.1: The sensitivity and specificity of the EUROLINE 14 Ag test in AIH and PBC

Appendix B

Participant list

No.	Name of participant	Medical record number
1	Nguyen Thi N.	20026332
2	Luu Thi Ngoc A.	20056754
3	Bui Thi H.	201027659
4	Doctora Griegggy M.	200989025
5	Ha Thi Thu N.	200911698
6	Hoang Thi Quynh H.	814014925
7	Hoang Thi T.	817012330
8	Lam Huong G.	821019539
9	Le Thi Phuong L.	201090389
10	Le Thi Thanh T.	200904812
11	Nguyen Hong H.	201060182
12	Nguyen Thi H.	200896093
13	Nguyen Thi Ngoc H.	201085494
14	Nguyen Van D.	200888640
15	Oinuma H.	820051814
16	Vu Thi T.	200905579
17	Vu Thi T.	200543312
18	Bui Hoang N.	200385378
19	Do Thanh C.	200818775
20	Hoang Thi T.	201264226
21	Luong Thi B.	201279316
22	Nguyen Duc M.	201227722
23	Nguyen Thi C.	201120198
24	Nguyen Thi L.	201102491
25	Nguyen Thi Ngoc H.	201085494

2	26 Nguyen Thi N.	201171664
2	27 Nguyen Thi Thi H.	815059443
2	28 Nguyen Thu H.	200213336
2	29 Nguyen Trong H.	201196498
3	0 Pham Thi H.	815028819
3	Joe S.	201225587
3	2 Dao Thi S.	200816009
		and the second se

IS.BS. Nguyễn Văn Đình

Confirmation from the thesis

supervisor

010005055 Confirmation from the primary institution ω

Appendix C

Research survey

VINUNIVERSITY	RESEAR	CH MEDICA	L RECORD – INTER	NAL MEDICINE
PATIENT	Fullname			
INFORMATION	PID			
	Gender	Male	Female	
	DOB			
	Age			
	Occupation			
	Address			
SUBJECTIVE	Chief complain			
DATA	History of present	Fatigue Jaundice	Itching Skin rashes Joint	pain Abdominal discomfort
	illness	Diarrhea Loss of ap	petite Dark/ yellow urir	e Weight loss
	Allergies			
	Past medical history	Internal medicine	Hypertension Diabetes	Mellitus Dyslipidemia
		history	Cirrhosis	
			Autoimmune liver disease:	
			Primary biliary cholangitis	Primary sclerosing cholangitis
			Overlap syndromes	
			Hepatitis:	
			Drug-induced liver injury	Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis
			Systemic lupus erythematosus	(SLE)-associated liver disease
			Acute liver failure	Viral hepatitis
			Associated extrahepatic disorde	ers:
			Asthma	
			Autoimmune thyroiditis:	Grave's disease
				Hashimoto's disease
			DM type 1 IBD	Celiac disease
			Systemic lupus erythematosus	MCTD
			Rheumatoid arthritis	Sjogen's syndrome
			Psoriasis	Vittiligo
			Others:	
			Wilson's disease Hemoche	romatosis
		-	Emphysema Budd - C	Zhiari syndrome
		Surgery history		
		Social history		

С		OBGYN histor	у							
		Family history		Cirrhos	is	HCC	(Celiac dise	ease	
				Other a	Other autoimmune disea			ases		
	Current medications	Prescription dr	ugs:							
		Clometacin	Diclo	fenac	Fen	ofibrate	Methyl	dopa	Minocycline	
		Nitrofurantoin	Papav	rine	Phe	nytoin	Propylt	hiouracil	Statins	
		Others:								
		Herbal medica	tions:							
		Nonprescriptio	n drug	<u>s:</u>	Acetaminophen					
					Oth	ers:				
	Review of systems	Constitutional:	□ we	ight loss	/gain		□ fatig	ue	🗆 fever	
	 Head-to-toe 		🗆 los	s of app	etite		□ heat/	cold intol	erance	
	symptom		□ inc	reased/d	lecrea	sed sweati	ng			
	detection	Eyes:	🗆 eye	e pain/dr	ainag	e	🗆 visua	al change	□ dry/irritated eye	
	 Associated 	HENNT:	🗆 ear	pain/dra	ainag	e	🗆 sinus	s infection	□ hearing loss/change	
	extrahepatic		🗆 hoa	arse voic	e					
	disorders	Cardiovascular	: C che	est pain	□p	alpitation	□ faint	ing	□ swelling feet/legs	
		Respiratory:	🗆 spi	ıtum	Οw	heezing	🗆 coug	;h	□ shortness of breath	
		100/020	0.0000	1.51			10-11 W			
		GI:	🗆 hea	artburn	□d	ysphagia	🗆 odyn	iophagia	\Box N/V	
			🗆 blo	ating	□a	bdominal p	oain		ab. Distension	
			🗆 pal	e stools	O st	teatorrhea	🗆 mele	ena	constipation	
			🗆 diarrhea							
		Genitourinary:	: hematuria yellow urine		e 🗆 dysuria 🛛 urinary urgency					
			urinary frequency		🗆 oligo/amenorrhea					
			□ me	norrhagi	ia	□ decreased libido			lo	
			🗆 ere	ctile dys	funct	unction 🛛 delayed eja		yed ejacul	ation 🗆 infertility	
		Integument:	🗆 ras	h	□ it	ching,	🗆 jauno	dice	🗆 hair loss	
			🗆 bri	ttle nails	Οc	□ cold/dry skin				
		Musculoskeleta	al:		O st	🗆 stiffness 🛛 cramps 🔹 joint pain			joint pain	
			□ pro	oximal m	uscle	weakness				
		Neuropsychiate	ric:		□a	anxiety 🗆 depression		□ restlessness		
			🗆 em	otional i	nstab	ility	🗆 inson	mnia	□ somnolence	
	1		□ im	paired co	ogniti	nition D heat/cold intolerance			erance	
OBJECTIVE DATA	Vital Signs	• HR	hr	1m		Height -	Weight	• H	aight	
OBJECTIVE DATA	vitai oigiio	. RP		mHa		BMI	weight	• w	eight	
		• PP	hr			121111		• BI	un	
		• Temp	-10 -10	~				- 101	*11	
		- 1emp	95 97	∽ ∽ (room :	air)					
		- 5p02		0 (10011)	ан)					
	Physical	General Annea	rance							
	examination	General Appea	ance							
		CV system								
		Respiratory								
		Abdominal								
		Spacific area	DE							
	Diagnosia	Initial Di-	r L							
	L'Ingliosis	Differential	15							
		Diagnosis								
		Diagnosis								

ASSESSMENT	Laborator	CBC	Within normal limit						
	y studies		Anemia: O Microcytic 0		D	Normocytic	O Mac	Macrocytic	
			Thrombocyto	openia					
			Others:						
		BMP	Within norm	al limit					
			Others:						
		Thyroid	TSH			Anti TPO	<u>□(</u> +)ve	🗆 (-) <u>ve</u>	
		function	fT4			Anti <u>Tg</u>	<u>_(+)ve</u>	□ (-) <u>ve</u>	
		Celiac	Ig A total			Associated			
		disease	Ig A tTG			extrahepatic			
						disorders			
		Liver	Parameters	AST	ALT		AST/ALT		
		function	of	ALP	GGT		ALP/AST		
			hepatocyte						
			damage						
			Parameters	PT					
			of impaired	INR					
				Albumin					

	hepatic synthesis						
Initial diagnosis studies	Gamma IgG or gamma globu globulins		lin level				
	Autoantibod	ANA		Positive	O Negative		
	ies	ASMA	L	□ Positive	O Negative		
		Anti –	LKM – 1	□ Positive	□ Negative		
		AMA		□ Positive	□ Negative		
Differenti	Hepatitis:						
al	Viral hepatitis: 🗆 HBs.		HBsAg	□ Anti-HBs	□ Anti-HBc		
diagnosis			Anti-HCV	□ HCV RNA			
studies			IgM HAV	\bigcirc IgM HEV			
	NASH:		Cholesterol	Triglyceride	\Box LDL	OHI	DL
	α1 antitrypsin	n deficie	ncy:	\Box Serum α 1-antitrypsin			
	Hemochromatosis			Serum iron	□ Ferritin		TIBC/
	T.f.S.						
	Wilson disease: 🗆 Se		Serum copper	Urine copper	Serum cert	ulopla	asmin

			Coombs tes	t		
		PBC:				
		PSC:	🗆 pANCA			
		SLE -associated	liver disease:	\Box ANA	□Anti ds DNA	
				□Anti-SM		
Imaging	US	Abdomen:				
		Thyroid gland and cervical lymphonodes.				
	CT scan					
	MRCP					
	Transient					
	elastograp					
	hy					
	Endoscop					
	У					
Biopsy						

PLAN Additional lab stud Additional lab resu Definitive diagnos	Additional lab studies	If all the above autoantibodies are negative then order these tests:						
		ALC - 1 Posi Anti - SLA/LP Posi		tive D Negative				
				itive ONe	egative			
		 p – ANCA 	O Pos	itive 🛛 Ne	O Negative			
		Disease classification based on autoantibodies results:						
		Type 1 AIH:	Ċ.	Type 2 AIH:				
		 ANA 	$\Box(+)$ ve $\Box(-)$ ve	 Anti - LKM – 1 	$\Box(+)$ ye $\Box(-)$ ye			
		 ASMA (65% pt) 	<u>□(</u> +) <u>v</u> e □ (-) <u>v</u> e	• ALC -1	<u>_(+)ye</u> _ (-)ye			
		 AAA 	<u>□(+)ye</u> □ (-) <u>ye</u>	 Anti – SLA/LP 	<u>(+)ye</u> _ (-)ye			
		 AMA 	$\Box(+)_{ve} \Box (-)_{ve}$	 Anti ds DNA 	<u>_(+)ye</u> _ (-)ye			
		 Anti – SLA/LP 	(10 - 30% pt)	 Anti – LKM – 3 ($(rare) \square (+) ye \square (-) ye$			
			$\Box(+)_{ye}$ $\Box(-)_{ye}$					
		 Anti ds DNA (25 	- 35% pt) <u>□(</u> +) <u>v</u> ¢					
			□ (-) <u>ve</u>					
		 p – ANCA 	$\Box(+)_{\underline{V}\underline{e}} \Box (-)_{\underline{V}\underline{e}}$					
	Additional lab results							
	Definitive diagnosis	□ AIH	□ PBC	🗆 PSC				
		□ Complication (if any)						

Appendix D

Thesis permission approvement

SỞ Y TẾ HÀ NỘI BỆNH VIỆN ĐA KHOA QUỐC TẾ VINMEC TIMES CITY

CỘNG HÒA XÃ HỘI CHỦ NGHĨA VIỆT NAM Độc lập – Tự đo – Hạnh phúc

Số: 24/2/QĐ-KHTH/VMTC

Hà Nội, ngày21 tháng 12 năm 2023

QUYĖT ĐỊNH

· Về việc thông qua để tài nghiên cứu và cho phép thu thập số liệu

Căn cứ vào Quy định quản lý nghiên cứu khoa học và công nghệ ngày 21 tháng 03 năm 2022 của Công ty cổ phần Bệnh viện đa khoa Quốc tế Vinmec;

Căn cứ Quyết định số 48/2023/QĐ-VMTC ngày 18 tháng 02 năm 2023 về việc kiện toàn hội đồng chuyên môn khoa học Bệnh viện ĐKQT Vinmec Times City;

Căn cứ theo biên bản họp Hội đồng chuyên môn khoa học Bệnh viện ĐKQT Vinmec. Times City ngày 13 tháng 4 năm 2023,

QUYÉT ÐINH

Điều 1: Thông qua Đề tài nghiên cứu khoa học của TS.BS. Nguyễn Văn Đĩnh và BSNT. Trần Võ Thủy Nhi

Tên đề tài: Đặc điểm lâm sảng bệnh lý viêm gan tự miễn ở Việt Nam.

Tiếng Anh: : Clinical characteristics of autoimmune liver diseases in Vietnamse population

Điều 2: TS.BS. Nguyễn Văn Đĩnh và BSNT. Trần Võ Thủy Nhi có trách nhiệm triển khai thực hiện để tài nghiên cứu khoa học này.

Điều 3: Quyết định có hiệu lực kể từ ngày ký.

Nơi nhận:

- Phòng KHTH;
- Chủ nhiệm đề tài;
- Luu: KHTH.



Reference List

1. Devarbhavi H, Asrani SK, Arab JP, Nartey YA, Pose E, Kamath PS. Global burden of liver disease: 2023 update. J Hepatol. 2023;79(2):516-537. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2023.03.017

2. Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol. 2019;70(1):151-171. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014

3. Katsumi T, Ueno Y. Epidemiology and surveillance of autoimmune hepatitis in Asia. Liver Int. 2022;42(9):2015-2022. doi:10.1111/liv.15155

4. Yang F, Wang Q, Bian Z, Ren LL, Jia J, Ma X. Autoimmune hepatitis: East meets west. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015 Aug;30(8):1230-6. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12952. PMID: 25765710.

5. Mackay IR. Historical reflections on autoimmune hepatitis. World J Gastroenterol WJG. 2008;14(21):3292-3300. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.3292

6. Hahn JW, Yang HR, Moon JS, et al. Global incidence and prevalence of autoimmune hepatitis, 1970–2022: a systematic review and meta-analysis. eClinicalMedicine. 2023;65. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.102280

7. Enomoto H, Nishiguchi S. Similarities and Differences in Autoimmune Hepatitis Epidemiology between East and West: Autoimmune Hepatitis in East Asia, Southeast Asia, and South Asia. Inflamm Intest Dis. 2017;1(4):150-158. doi:10.1159/000454879

8. Abe M, Mashiba T, Zeniya M, et al. Present status of autoimmune hepatitis in Japan: a nationwide survey. J Gastroenterol. 2011;46(9):1136-1141. doi:10.1007/s00535-011-0421-y

9. Koay LB, Lin CY, Tsai SL, et al. Type 1 autoimmune hepatitis in Taiwan: diagnosis using the revised criteria of the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group. Dig Dis Sci. 2006;51(11):1978-1984. doi:10.1007/s10620-005-9068-y

10. Zeniya M, Takahashi H. Characteristics of autoimmune hepatitis in the Asia-Pacific Region: historical review. Hepatol Int. 2012;6(1):342-349. doi:10.1007/s12072-011-9313-8

11. Björnsson E, Talwalkar J, Treeprasertsuk S, et al. Drug-induced autoimmune hepatitis: clinical characteristics and prognosis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2010;51(6):2040-2048. doi:10.1002/hep.23588

12. Czaja AJ. Drug-induced autoimmune-like hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2011;56(4):958-976. doi:10.1007/s10620-011-1611-4

13. Oh HJ, Mok YM, Baek MS, et al. Co-development of autoimmune hepatitis and Sjögren's syndrome triggered by the administration of herbal medicines. Clin Mol

Hepatol. 2013;19(3):305-308. doi:10.3350/cmh.2013.19.3.305

14. Vento S, Garofano T, Di Perri G, Dolci L, Concia E, Bassetti D. Identification of hepatitis A virus as a trigger for autoimmune chronic hepatitis type 1 in susceptible individuals. Lancet Lond Engl. 1991;337(8751):1183-1187. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(91)92858-y

15. Dalekos GN, Koskinas J, Papatheodoridis GV. Hellenic Association for the Study of the Liver Clinical Practice Guidelines: Autoimmune hepatitis. Ann Gastroenterol. 2019 Jan-Feb;32(1):1-23. doi: 10.20524/aog.2018.0330. Epub 2018 Nov 29. PMID: 30598587; PMCID: PMC6302199.

16. Abdollahi MR, Somi MH, Faraji E. Role of international criteria in the diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. World J Gastroenterol WJG. 2013;19(23):3629-3633. doi:10.3748/wjg.v19.i23.3629

17. Yeoman AD, Westbrook RH, Zen Y, et al. Prognosis of acute severe autoimmune hepatitis (AS-AIH): the role of corticosteroids in modifying outcome. J Hepatol. 2014;61(4):876-882. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2014.05.021

18. Feld JJ, Dinh H, Arenovich T, Marcus VA, Wanless IR, Heathcote EJ. Autoimmune hepatitis: effect of symptoms and cirrhosis on natural history and outcome. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2005;42(1):53-62. doi:10.1002/hep.20732

19. Yoshizawa K, Matsumoto A, Ichijo T, et al. Long-term outcome of Japanese patients with type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2012;56(2):668-676. doi:10.1002/hep.25658

20. Kim BH, Kim YJ, Jeong SH, et al. Clinical features of autoimmune hepatitis and comparison of two diagnostic criteria in Korea: a nationwide, multicenter study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;28(1):128-134. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.2012.07292.x

21. Wang Q, Selmi C, Zhou X, et al. Epigenetic considerations and the clinical reevaluation of the overlap syndrome between primary biliary cirrhosis and autoimmune hepatitis. J Autoimmun. 2013;41:140-145. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2012.10.004

22. Hoeroldt B, McFarlane E, Dube A, et al. Long-term outcomes of patients with autoimmune hepatitis managed at a nontransplant center. Gastroenterology. 2011;140(7):1980-1989. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.02.065

23. Kanzler S, Löhr H, Gerken G, Galle PR, Lohse AW. Long-term management and prognosis of autoimmune hepatitis (AIH): a single center experience. Z Gastroenterol. 2001;39(5):339-341, 344-348. doi:10.1055/s-

2001-13708

24. Muratori P, Granito A, Quarneti C, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis in Italy: the Bologna experience. J Hepatol. 2009;50(6):1210-1218. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2009.01.020

25. García-Torres ML, Primo J, Ortuño JA, et al. [A clinical study of adult autoimmune hepatitis in Valencia, Spain]. Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2008;100(7):400-404. doi:10.4321/s1130-01082008000700004

26. Minuk GY, Liu S, Kaita K, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis in a North American

Aboriginal/First Nations population. Can J Gastroenterol J Can Gastroenterol. 2008;22(10):829-834. doi:10.1155/2008/642432

27. Vázquez-García MN, Aláez C, Olivo A, et al. MHC class II sequences of susceptibility and protection in Mexicans with autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 1998;28(6):985-990. doi:10.1016/s0168-8278(98)80347-4

28. Mack CL, Adams D, Assis DN, Kerkar N, Manns MP, Mayo MJ, Vierling JM, Alsawas M, Murad MH, Czaja AJ. Diagnosis and Management of Autoimmune Hepatitis in Adults and Children: 2019 Practice Guidance and Guidelines From the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology. 2020 Aug;72(2):671-722. doi: 10.1002/hep.31065. Epub 2020 May 12. PMID: 31863477.

29. Sebode M, Weiler-Normann C, Liwinski T, Schramm C. Autoantibodies in Autoimmune Liver Disease-Clinical and Diagnostic Relevance. Front Immunol. 2018 Mar 27;9:609. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00609. PMID: 29636752; PMCID: PMC5880919.

30. Gatselis NK, Zachou K, Koukoulis GK, Dalekos GN. Autoimmune hepatitis, one disease with many faces: etiopathogenetic, clinico-laboratory and histological characteristics. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(1):60-83. doi:10.3748/wjg.v21.i1.60

31. Czaja AJ. Diagnosis and Management of Autoimmune Hepatitis: Current Status and Future Directions. Gut Liver. 2016 Mar;10(2):177-203. doi: 10.5009/gnl15352. PMID: 26934884; PMCID: PMC4780448.

32. Bhumi SA, Wu GY. Seronegative Autoimmune Hepatitis. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2023;11(2):459-465. doi:10.14218/JCTH.2022.00235

33. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 2015;63(4):971-1004. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.06.030

34. Tiniakos DG, Brain JG, Bury YA. Role of Histopathology in Autoimmune Hepatitis. Dig Dis. 2015;33(Suppl. 2):53-64. doi:10.1159/000440747

35. Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D, Czaja AJ, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2018;4:18017. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2018.17

36. Gurung A, Assis DN, McCarty TR, Mitchell KA, Boyer JL, Jain D. Histologic features of autoimmune hepatitis: a critical appraisal. Hum Pathol. 2018;82:51-60. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2018.07.014

37. Lüth S, Herkel J, Kanzler S, et al. Serologic markers compared with liver biopsy for monitoring disease activity in autoimmune hepatitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2008;42(8):926-930. doi:10.1097/MCG.0b013e318154af74

38. Czaja A, Carpenter HA. Validation of scoring system for diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 1996;41(2):305-314. doi:10.1007/BF02093820

39. Bianchi FB, Cassani F, Lenzi M, Ballardini G, Muratori L, Giostra F, Zauli D. Impact of international autoimmune hepatitis group scoring system in definition of autoimmune hepatitis. An Italian experience. Dig Dis Sci. 1996 Jan;41(1):166-71. doi: 10.1007/BF02208600. PMID: 8565751.

40. Alvarez F, Berg PA, Bianchi FB, et al. International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group Report: review of criteria for diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 1999;31(5):929-938. doi:10.1016/s0168-8278(99)80297-9

41. Hennes EM, Zeniya M, Czaja AJ, Parés A, Dalekos GN, Krawitt EL, Bittencourt PL, Porta G, Boberg KM, Hofer H, Bianchi FB, Shibata M, Schramm C, Eisenmann de Torres B, Galle PR, McFarlane I, Dienes HP, Lohse AW; International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group. Simplified criteria for the diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. Hepatology. 2008 Jul;48(1):169-76. doi: 10.1002/hep.22322. PMID: 18537184.

42. Wiegard C, Schramm C, Lohse AW. Scoring systems for the diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis: past, present, and future. Semin Liver Dis. 2009;29(3):254-261. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1233532

43. Al-Chalabi T, Boccato S, Portmann BC, McFarlane IG, Heneghan MA. Autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) in the elderly: a systematic retrospective analysis of a large group of consecutive patients with definite AIH followed at a tertiary referral centre. J Hepatol. 2006;45(4):575-583. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2006.04.007

44. Amarapurkar D, Dharod M, Amarapurkar A. Autoimmune hepatitis in India: single tertiary referral centre experience. Trop Gastroenterol Off J Dig Dis Found. 2015;36(1):36-45. doi:10.7869/tg.243

45. Choudhuri G, Somani SK, Baba CS, Alexander G. Autoimmune hepatitis in India: profile of an uncommon disease. BMC Gastroenterol. 2005;5:27. doi:10.1186/1471-230X-5-27
46. Lv T, Li M, Zeng N, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis on the incidence and prevalence of autoimmune hepatitis in Asian, European, and American population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;34(10):1676-1684. doi:10.1111/jgh.14746

47. Hirschfield GM, Dyson JK, Alexander GJM, et al. The British Society of Gastroenterology/UK-PBC primary biliary cholangitis treatment and management guidelines. Gut. 2018;67(9):1568-1594. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315259

48. Lv T, Chen S, Li M, Zhang D, Kong Y, Jia J. Regional variation and temporal trend of primary biliary cholangitis epidemiology: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;36(6):1423-1434. doi:10.1111/jgh.15329

49. Zeng N, Duan W, Chen S, et al. Epidemiology and clinical course of primary biliary cholangitis in the Asia-Pacific region: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatol Int.

2019;13(6):788-799. doi:10.1007/s12072-019-09984-x

50. Gulamhusein AF, Hirschfield GM. Primary biliary cholangitis: pathogenesis and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;17(2):93-110. doi:10.1038/s41575-019-0226-7

51. Lleo A, Leung PSC, Hirschfield GM, Gershwin EM. The Pathogenesis of Primary Biliary Cholangitis: A Comprehensive Review. Semin Liver Dis. 2020;40(1):34-48. doi:10.1055/s-0039-1697617

52. Lindor KD, Bowlus CL, Boyer J, Levy C, Mayo M. Primary Biliary Cholangitis: 2018 Practice Guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2019;69(1):394-419. doi:10.1002/hep.30145

53. European Association for the Study of the Liver. European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: The diagnosis and management of patients with primary biliary cholangitis. J Hepatol. 2017 Jul;67(1):145-172. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.03.022. Epub 2017 Apr 18. PMID: 28427765.

54. Chalifoux SL, Konyn PG, Choi G, Saab S. Extrahepatic Manifestations of Primary Biliary Cholangitis. Gut Liver. 2017 Nov 15;11(6):771-780. doi: 10.5009/gnl16365. PMID: 28292174; PMCID: PMC5669592.

55. Granito A, Muratori P, Muratori L, et al. Antibodies to SS-A/Ro-52kD and centromere in autoimmune liver disease: a clue to diagnosis and prognosis of primary biliary cirrhosis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26(6):831-838. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03433.x

56. Parveen S, Morshed SA, Nishioka M. High prevalence of antibodies to recombinant CENP-B in primary biliary cirrhosis: nuclear immunofluorescence patterns and ELISA reactivities. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1995;10(4):438-445. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.1995.tb01597.x

57. Granito A, Muratori P, Quarneti C, Pappas G, Cicola R, Muratori L. Antinuclear antibodies as ancillary markers in primary biliary cirrhosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2012;12(1):65-74. doi:10.1586/erm.11.82

58. Gatselis NK, Dalekos GN. Molecular diagnostic testing for primary biliary cholangitis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2016;16(9):1001-1010. doi:10.1080/14737159.2016.1217159

59. Lamba M, Ngu JH, Stedman CAM. Trends in Incidence of Autoimmune Liver Diseases and Increasing Incidence of Autoimmune Hepatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol Off Clin Pract J Am Gastroenterol Assoc. 2021;19(3):573-579.e1. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2020.05.061

60. Boonstra K, Weersma RK, van Erpecum KJ, et al. Population-based epidemiology, malignancy risk, and outcome of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2013;58(6):2045-2055. doi:10.1002/hep.26565

61. Barberio B, Massimi D, Cazzagon N, Zingone F, Ford AC, Savarino EV. Prevalence of Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 2021;161(6):1865-1877. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2021.08.032

62. Trivedi PJ, Bowlus CL, Yimam KK, Razavi H, Estes C. Epidemiology, Natural History, and Outcomes of Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis: A Systematic Review of Population-based Studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol Off Clin Pract J Am Gastroenterol Assoc. 2022;20(8):1687-1700.e4. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2021.08.039

63. Broomé U, Olsson R, Lööf L, et al. Natural history and prognostic factors in 305 Swedish patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gut. 1996;38(4):610-615. doi:10.1136/gut.38.4.610

64. Kronzer VL, Bridges SL, Davis JM. Why women have more autoimmune diseases than men: An evolutionary perspective. Evol Appl. 2020;14(3):629-633. doi:10.1111/eva.13167

65. Li X, Zhu J, Zhao W, et al. The Causal Effect of Obesity on the Risk of 15 Autoimmune Diseases: A Mendelian Randomization Study. Obes Facts. 2023;16(6):598-605. doi:10.1159/000534468

66. Do MH, Wang X, Zhang X, Chou C, Nixon BG, Capistrano KJ, Peng M, Efeyan A, Sabatini DM, Li MO. Nutrient mTORC1 signaling underpins regulatory T cell control of immune tolerance. J Exp Med. 2020 Jan 6;217(1):e20190848. doi: 10.1084/jem.20190848. PMID: 31649036; PMCID: PMC7037250.

67. Matarese G. The link between obesity and autoimmunity. Science. 2023 Mar 31:379(6639):1298-1300. doi: 10.1126/science.ade0113. Epub 2023 Mar 30. PMID: 36996218.

68. Rim D, Wang W. S1468 The Inpatient Outcomes of Autoimmune Hepatitis Among Obese Patients. Off J Am Coll Gastroenterol ACG. 2022;117(10S):e1053. doi:10.14309/01.ajg.0000862512.21253.03

69. Somroo GB, Rai AA, Luck NH, Abbas Z. Clinical presentation of autoimmune hepatitis in Pakistani children. Pan Afr Med J. 2018;30:117. doi:10.11604/pamj.2018.30.117.12692

70. Tamimi TA, Sallam M, Rayyan D, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Autoimmune Hepatitis in a Middle Eastern Population: A Tertiary Care Center Experience. J Clin Med. 2023;12(2):629. doi:10.3390/jcm12020629

71. Jeong SH. Current epidemiology and clinical characteristics of autoimmune liver diseases in South Korea. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2018;24(1):10-19. doi:10.3350/cmh.2017.0066

Czaja AJ. Autoantibody-negative autoimmune hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2012;57(3):610624. doi:10.1007/s10620-011-2017-z

73. Czaja AJ, Davis GL, Ludwig J, Baggenstoss AH, Taswell HF. Autoimmune features as

determinants of prognosis in steroid-treated chronic active hepatitis of uncertain etiology. Gastroenterology. 1983;85(3):713-717.

74. Tang R, Wei Y, Li Y, Chen W, Chen H, Wang Q, Yang F, Miao Q, Xiao X, Zhang H, Lian M, Jiang X, Zhang J, Cao Q, Fan Z, Wu M, Qiu D, Fang JY, Ansari A, Gershwin ME, Ma X. Gut microbial profile is altered in primary biliary cholangitis and partially restored after UDCA therapy. Gut. 2018 Mar;67(3):534-541. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313332. Epub 2017 Feb 17. PMID: 28213609.

75. Chen S, Li M, Li B, et al. Concomitant Gallstone Disease Was Associated With a Worse Prognosis in Non-Cirrhotic Patients With Primary Biliary Cholangitis. In Review; 2021. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-643876/v1

76. Taneja S, Mehtani R, De A, et al. Spectrum of Autoimmune Liver Disease and Real-World Treatment Experience from a Tertiary Care Hospital. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2023;13(2):241-251. doi:10.1016/j.jceh.2022.11.002

77. Czaja AJ. Performance Parameters of the Conventional Serological Markers for Autoimmune Hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci. 2011;56(2):545-554. doi:10.1007/s10620-010-1501-1

78. Czaja AJ. Autoantibodies as prognostic markers in autoimmune liver disease. Dig Dis Sci. 2010 Aug;55(8):2144-61. doi: 10.1007/s10620-010-1268-4. Epub 2010 May 13. PMID: 20464491.

THESIS SUBMISSION FORM

Surname	Middle name	First	name	Title (Eg. Mr., Ms., Miss., etc.)		
TRAN	VO THUY	NHI		Ms.		
Student number: V202000301			Graduation in Month/ Year: October 2024			
Permanent email address :			Should your email address be made available			
20nhi.tvt@vinuni.edu.vn			on the Vinspace website (circle the answer)?			
			(YES) NO			
Telephone number:0766200996						
College : College of Health Sciences			Major: Internal Medicine			
Degree: Bác sĩ nội trú						
Advisor(s) :						
• Nguyen Van Dinh, MD., PhD						
• Truong Cong Duan, MD., PhD						
Title of the study:						
Clinical characteristics of autoimmune liver diseases in Vietnamese patients						
Document type: Thesis						
Please supply 5 <u>keywords</u> for the study			1. Autoimmune liver diseases			
(Use subject heading from			2. Autoimmune hepatitis			
https://authorities.loc.gov/):			3. Primary biliary cholangitis			
			4. Primary sclerosing cholangitis			
			5. Liver disease			
			L			

Abstract/Summary

Background: Autoimmune liver diseases (ALD) consist of autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC), and overlapping syndrome. These are rare disorders that are assumed to belong to only Western countries; data from Eastern, particularly developing Asian countries, is currently lacking.

Aim: The purpose of this study is to describe the serologic spectrum, autoimmunologic profile, and clinical features of Vietnamese patients with ALD in Hanoi. The results are compared to data from previous research conducted in Western areas and other Asia-Pacific countries.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted in two hospitals in Vietnam from 2021

to 2024. The following parameters were recorded when analyzing the medical records of all 32 patients: the patient's demographic data, clinical history at presentation, and findings of laboratory and serologic testing—not only the biochemistry but also the immunologic profile at the time of diagnosis.

Results: The total number of ALD patients in the study was 32, including 31.25% with AIH (n=10), 68.75% with PBC (n=22), and no patients with PSC and overlapping syndrome. Most were female and within middle age (51 years in the AIH group and 49 years in the PBC group). Fatigue, loss of appetite, and jaundice were the most reported symptoms in both groups. Depending on the pattern of ALD, the more serology antibodies were positive, the more accurately ALD was diagnosed in comparison to positive single antibody cases.

Conclusion: Our study found that most ALD cases in Vietnam were middle-aged females with PBC or AIH with nonspecific symptoms. Further long-term studies investigating the epidemiology and prognosis of ALD in Vietnam is needed.

Availability

I agree that access to the electronic full text of the abovementioned work should be treated as follow:

Be opened to the public after self-submission. (This option is NOT subject to approval)

□ Be restricted for □ months after self-submission. The embargo will end automatically, and the full electronic text will become accessible to the public once this period has passed. (*The maximum embargo period is 12 months, need approval by the Dean of the College.*)

□ Under NO CIRCUMSTANCES should it be made accessible to the public. (*This option is subject to approval by the Dean of the College.*)

SIGNATURE OF DEAN: _____

DATE: _____

Note: Please obtain the Deans' signatures only if your theses or dissertations require a permanent embargo or a 12-month access restriction.

Copyright declaration

I affirm that the version of my thesis ("the work") I have submitted matches the one approved by the thesis committee and all revisions requested by the examiners have been incorporated. I hereby authorize VinUniversity to loan the work to users of the VinUniversity library and to create partial or single copies solely for such users in response to requests from the library or any other university, educational institution, or individual, either on its own behalf or for one of its users. It is understood that copying or publishing this work for financial gain is prohibited without my written consent.

SIGNATURE OF RESIDENT: ______ DATE: _______ 16th Aug 2024 _____